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>>Committee commenced at 9:00

Chairman (Mr. Hickes): Good morning,
everyone. [ would like to ask Ms. Quassa to
open the proceedings with a prayer.

>>Prayer

Chairman: Thank you, Ms. Quassa. Out of
respect for my colleague sitting beside me,
I’m wearing a mask. I have a bit of a cold.
I’'m feeling better, but I want to make sure
everyone stays healthy during the
proceedings.

I am pleased to begin by welcoming
everyone to this meeting of the Legislative
Assembly’s Standing Committee on
Oversight of Government Operations and
Public Accounts.

We have convened today on the occasion of
the standing committee’s televised hearing
on the 2022-23 Annual Report of the
Information and Privacy Commissioner.

I would first like to introduce my Standing
Committee colleagues:

e Alexander Sammurtok, Co-Chair of the
Standing Committee and Member for
Rankin Inlet North-Chesterfield Inlet;

e Janet Brewster, Member for Iqaluit-
Sinaa;

e Adam Arreak Lightstone, Member for
Iqaluit-Manirajak;

e Joanna Quassa, Member for Aggu;

e Joseph Quqqiaq, Member for Netsilik;

e Joe Savikataaq, Member for Arviat
South; and

e Craig Simailak, Member for Baker Lake.

The Information and Privacy Commissioner
is appointed on the recommendation of the
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Legislative Assembly. Mr. Steele’s term of
office began on January 11, 2021.

As an independent officer of the House, the
Information and Privacy Commissioner is
required by law to prepare and submit an
annual report to the Legislative Assembly.

The 2020-21 Annual Report of the
Information and Privacy Commissioner was
tabled in the Legislative Assembly on
September 9, 2021. The 2021-22 annual
report was tabled on May 25, 2022. Televised
Standing Committee hearings on the annual
reports were held from September 26 to 27,
2022.

The Standing Committee subsequently
presented its report on November 8, 2022.
The Information and Privacy
Commissioner’s response to the report of the
Standing Committee was tabled in the House
on March 6, 2023, over a year ago. The
Government of Nunavut’s response to the
Standing Committee’s report was tabled in
the Legislative Assembly on May 24, 2023.

The 2022-23 Annual Report of the
Information and Privacy Commissioner was
tabled in the Legislative Assembly on May
24, 2023. The Information and Privacy
Commissioner’s 2024-27 business plan was
tabled in the Legislative Assembly on
February 27, 2024.

The Government of Nunavut’s Department of
Executive and Intergovernmental Affairs has
overarching responsibility for the
government’s administration of the Access to
Information and Protection of Privacy Act
and related regulations and policies.

The government’s 2019-2020 annual report
on the administration of the Access to
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Information and Protection of Privacy Act
was tabled in the Legislative Assembly on
March 16, 2021. However, the 2020-21,
2021-22 and 2022-23 annual reports have not
yet been tabled.

This week’s televised hearing provides an
opportunity for the Information and Privacy
Commissioner’s observations and
recommendations to be discussed in a public
forum.

I anticipate that a number of themes will be
addressed during this televised hearing,
including:

e The status of the Government of
Nunavut’s formal responses to the
recommendations that were contained in
the Standing Committee’s report on its
review of the Information and Privacy
Commissioner’s 2020-21 and 2021-22
annual reports;

e The Information and Privacy
Commissioner’s recommendations for
amendments to legislation and changes to
the government’s policies and practices,
including potential amendments to
section 59 of the Access to Information
and Protection of Privacy Act, which
concerns prosecutions of certain
offences;

e The government’s annual reporting and
administration of relevant policies,
including the Access to Information and
Protection of Privacy Policy, the Privacy
Breach Policy, and the Privacy Impact
Assessment Policy;

e Health privacy issues and the
development of health-specific privacy
legislation;

e Privacy issues in respect to the coming
into force of the new Police Act;
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e The status of amendments that were
made to the Access to Information and
Protection of Privacy Act in September
2017 regarding the application of the
legislation to municipalities;

e Privacy impact assessments conducted by
the government in respect to its programs
and services;

e (Cybersecurity and the threat posed by
ransomware; and

¢ Information-sharing agreements between
the Government of Nunavut and external
entities.

The extent to which the government has the
capacity to meet its obligations under the
Access to Information and Protection of
Privacy Act was a major theme during the
Standing Committee’s most recent televised
hearing on the Information and Privacy
Commissioner’s annual reports. The
Standing Committee notes that the
government issued a request for proposals in
August 2022 for the provision of “privacy
and information management-specific
training and consulting services” to provide
support in such areas as the conduct of
privacy impact assessments. The Standing
Committee also notes that the Legislative
Assembly has recently approved significant
increases in the annual budget of the
government’s central Access to Information
and Protection of Privacy Office, the main
estimates for which increased by 115 percent
from $293,000 in the 2022-23 fiscal year to
$630,000 in the 2024-25 fiscal year.

Officials from the Department of Executive
and Intergovernmental Affairs are also
appearing at this televised hearing, and I will
shortly be inviting the government’s lead
witness to make his opening statement to the
Standing Committee. Also in attendance are
officials from the Department of Community
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and Government Services, the Department of
Health, and the Department of Justice.

I would like to conclude by addressing some
housekeeping matters.

I ask all Members and witnesses to ensure
that their cellphones and other electronic
devices do not disrupt these proceedings.

In order to assist our interpreters and
technical staff, I ask that all Members and
witnesses go through the Chair before
speaking.

I also ask that all Members and witnesses
refrain from the use of acronyms during these
proceedings.

Members of the Standing Committee have
been provided with a number of documents
for their ease of reference during this
televised hearing. For the benefit of our
witnesses and interpreters, I ask Members to
be precise when quoting from or making
reference to specific documents.

This hearing is being televised live across
Nunavut on community cable stations and
the direct-to-home satellite services of both
the Bell and Shaw networks. It is also being
live-streamed on the Legislative Assembly’s
website. Transcripts of the televised hearing
will be posted on the Legislative Assembly’s
website at a later date.

Under Rule 91(5) of the Rules of the
Legislative Assembly of Nunavut, the
government is required to table a formal
written response to reports of Standing
Committees within 120 days of their
presentation, and I anticipate that we will be
presenting our report on this televised
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hearing at the upcoming fall sitting of the
House.

I will now invite the Information and Privacy
Commissioner to make his opening
statement. Mr. Steele.

Mr. Steele (interpretation): Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. Good morning, Members and
Nunavummiut. (interpretation ends) I have
been the Information and Privacy
Commissioner for over three years now. This
is my second appearance before you, the
Members of the Standing Committee.

Why does this appearance matter? It matters
because I am an independent officer of this
Legislative Assembly. I do not report to the
Premier. I do not report to the cabinet. I
report only to you, the Members of the
Legislative Assembly, and through you, 1
report to the people of Nunavut.

I am your “watchdog” on how the

Government of Nunavut handles information.

Today and tomorrow, we will talk about what
I have seen.

There are two parts to the information law
under which I operate: access and privacy.

e Access means that the Government of
Nunavut must give out as much
information as it possibly can to the
people of the territory.

e Privacy means that the Government of
Nunavut must be careful about giving out
personal information.

On the access side, the Government of
Nunavut owes it to us, the citizens of
Nunavut, to tell us what it is doing so that we
can decide if they are doing the right things
for us. That is the purpose of the access law,
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to make sure that what the Government of
Nunavut does is done in the open.

On the privacy side, the Government of
Nunavut holds so much of our personal
information. For example, the government
knows everything about our health. It knows
everything about our education and the
education of our children. It knows
everything or almost everything about our
housing. It knows everything about any
social services that we receive. That is why
the privacy law lays down three important
rules:

1. The Government of Nunavut should
collect only the personal information it
absolutely needs to do its work.

2. The Government of Nunavut should use
that information only for the intended
purpose and not for any other purpose.

3. The Government of Nunavut should not
disclose that information to anyone
without a good reason; and the privacy
law lists what the good reasons are.

My message to you today is simple, it is the
same message | delivered to you the last time
I was here, and that is that the information
system in the Government of Nunavut works
sometimes but not nearly as well as it should.
Today and tomorrow, we will talk about what
is working, what is not working, and what we
can do together to make it better.

I know that you have some topics and
questions prepared, which the Chair listed in
his opening remarks. I also have a list of
topics that I would like to cover during our
time together. My list includes the following
topics:
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e Changes to the law that will make the
information system work better.

e How we can better support the people
inside each department who are handling
access and privacy.

e  Which departments are performing best
and which departments are not
performing to the level that the law
requires.

e How we make sure that private
information, especially in the health
system, stays private.

e At some point today or tomorrow, |
would like to touch on artificial
intelligence and how it might affect the
operations of the Government of
Nunavut.

Mr. Chairman, why does all of this matter? It
matters because good information is an
essential element of good government. The
people of Nunavut deserve good government.
I’m sure we can all agree on that point.
Everything that we talk about today and
tomorrow comes down to that one simple
idea: good government. (interpretation)
Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you, Mr. Steele. I would
like to invite the lead government witness,
Mr. Suvega, to provide opening comments
and introduce your officials that are attending
with you. Mr. Suvega.

Mr. Suvega (interpretation): Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. Good morning, Members.

(interpretation ends) Thank you, Mr.
Chairman and Committee Members, for
inviting me to appear before you today to
speak about the administration of the Access
to Information and Protection of Privacy Act,
often referred to as the ATIPP Act.
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I would like to begin by introducing my
colleagues and their support staff. To my left,
from the Department of Health, Deputy
Minister Megan Hunt; Chief Information
Officer Susan Anderson; to my left, Director
of ATIPP Mark Witzaney; to my right from
the Department of Justice, our senior legal
counsel, John MacLean; Deputy Minister of
Community and Government Services Kyle
Seeley; and Corporate Chief Information
Officer Mr. Dean Wells.

In our response to your last report, we
committed to tabling outstanding annual
reports on the administration of the Access fo
Information and Protection of Privacy Act. 1
want to apologize that this has not happened.
We have prepared a draft 2020-24 report that
should cover the outstanding time, and it is
currently being reviewed for approval and
translation. Tabling this outstanding report is
a top priority.

The Department of Executive and
Intergovernmental Affairs is responsible for
the maintenance of the ATIPP Act and its
associated policies and procedures. My
department also houses the centralized access
and privacy office for the Government of
Nunavut. Although my department does not
handle all administration related to the Act,
we work with all public bodies responsible
under the legislation to ensure we are
providing high-quality services to
Nunavummiut. This includes a consistent
approach to:

Applying fees;

Releasing records;

Conducting privacy reviews;
Reviewing privacy impact assessments;
Tracking administrative information
pertaining to access to information
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requests for the annual report on the
administration of the ATIPP Act; and

e Providing regular training to all
government employees.

The focus of the territorial Access to
Information and Protection of Privacy Office
over the last year has been to increase
capacity in our office to better support ATIPP
coordinators throughout the Government of
Nunavut.

In February 2024 a new director was hired
for the division. Mark Witzaney, who is with
me here today, is a long-term public servant
with years of experience in access and
privacy in the Government of Nunavut. He
brings a wealth of experience and knowledge
with him to this role.

We also thank Yuri Podmoroff, the former
ATIPP Manager, for his service and wish him
well in his new role.

Three positions, one access to information
and protection of privacy analyst and two
specialist positions, have been posted. We
hope that, once fully staffed, we can offer an
unprecedented level of ATIPP capacity and
experience to departments across the
Government of Nunavut. It is also hoped that
this expanded office will result in shorter
timelines to respond to ATIPP requests, more
consistent application of the Act, and better
services for applicants under the Act.

The Government of Nunavut values the role
of the Information and Privacy
Commissioner as an ombudsman and firmly
believes that a positive and collaborative
relationship between public bodies and the
commissioner’s office provides the most
benefit to the Government of Nunavut and all
Nunavummiut. Although public bodies may
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not accept all recommendations of the
commissioner, each recommendation is given
careful consideration. Where some
recommendations may seem ideal in theory,
once they are reviewed for their practical
application, not all recommendations are
appropriate in our environment. Therefore,
while some recommendations are not
accepted in full, the government does
consider other solutions to ensure we are
providing Nunavummiut with high-quality
access and privacy services.

As noted, not all administration relating to
the ATIPP Act is the responsibility of the
Department of Executive and
Intergovernmental Affairs. While my
department works with the public bodies to
collect information regarding our programs
and services, there may be questions asked
that I might necessarily be able to speak to.
In this case, I am happy to commit to
following up on your questions and having
that information provided to the Members.
(interpretation) Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you, Mr. Suvega. I would
like to ask Committee Members if they have
any opening comments. Mr. Lightstone.

Mr. Lightstone: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Good morning, colleagues and officials, and
Nunavummiut watching the proceedings
today.

I would like to give some opening comments
to highlight some of the key issues which I
will be focusing on over the next two days.

To begin, I would like to emphasize the
critical importance of the Access to
Information and Protection of Privacy Act
has within our democratic framework. The
government is bestowed with significant
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responsibility and authority to determine the
provision of services provided to
Nunavummiut.

I concur with the privacy commissioner that
the hallmark of good governments is
transparency. It is imperative that our
government remains open, transparent, and
accountable to all Nunavummiut. The access
to information empowers Nunavummiut to
review the information held by the
government concerning them. It also grants
Nunavummiut access to all public
information encompassing the decision-
making process and the allocation of public
funds by the government.

This marks the third occasion in which I have
participated in a televised hearing with the
privacy commissioner and the privacy
commissioner has consistently advocated for
enhancements to the ATIPP Act, proposing
the inclusion of order-making powers. Given
the crucial role of access to information in
our democratic system, I’m inclined to
support the commissioner’s
recommendations in this regard.

In our last televised hearing, there was much
discussion in this area. The Government of
Nunavut does not always agree with what
information should be shared or follow
recommendations made by the privacy
commissioner. The only option
Nunavummiut currently have to access
information that the government refuses to
share is through the court system.

Again, at our previous televised hearing, the
privacy commissioner recommended
reversing the situation whereas the privacy
commissioner may order the government to
share information, additional information,
and if the Government of Nunavut disagrees
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with that recommendation or order, it is the
Government of Nunavut which should go
through the courts to prevent it.

In light of increased transparency and
accountability, I strongly with the privacy
commissioner that the Access to Information
and Protection of Privacy Act should be
amended to give the privacy commissioner
order-making powers. Nunavummiut should
have open access to public information on
how decisions are made and how public
funds are spent. Providing the privacy
commissioner of Nunavut with order-making
powers can strengthen privacy protection,
improve the enforcement mechanism,
expedite complaint resolution, deter privacy
violations, and most importantly, enhance
accountability and build public trust in the
privacy regulatory system and the
Government of Nunavut itself.

During our last hearings, there were some
other areas of interest which again I would
like to highlight, and that is the relationship
between the government’s signed non-
disclosure disagreements, also known as
NDAs, and access to information legislation.

Another area which was previously
mentioned is the new Police Act and the
independent reviews that will be conducted
and whether or not that information will be
made public and shared with Nunavummiut.

Another area that we had touched upon
previously is full disclosure of public funds.

And lastly, the rate at which privacy breaches
may or may not be reported.

In addition, I would like to add something
new to our discussions: the issue of
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increasing police access to information
through the creation of a Missing Person Act.

In the final report of the National Inquiry into
Missing and Murdered Indigenous Women
and Girls, MMIWG, the Call for Justice No.
5.8 called upon provinces and territories to
adopt legislation related to missing persons.

This legislation allows police in certain
situations to make emergency demands for
records without court order, for example, if
it’s suspected that records may be destroyed
or that a missing person may be harmed
during such a time it would be required to
obtain a court order or a warrant.

Such legislation has been enacted in
Saskatchewan, Alberta, Nova Scotia,
Manitoba, British Columbia, Newfoundland,
and Ontario and is currently being reviewed
for passing in the Northwest Territories.

I would just like to give notice that at the
appropriate time, I will be asking questions
particularly with regard to the Missing
Persons Act later this morning. Thank you,
Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you, Mr. Lightstone. I
would like to remind Committee Members
that [ will be recognizing Committee
Members more than once, so you don’t have
to go through the entire list of the questions
that you may have for witnesses. I will ask
that Members acknowledge me or make
themselves known to me as soon as possible
so that I can develop a list of Committee
Members that wish to ask questions.

As we’re dealing with the annual report and
the business plan for the Information and
Privacy Commissioner, there’s no set page
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numbers in the summary reports that we
have, so it can go all over the board. I would
like to remind Members that if they are
referencing a specific document, they do
acknowledge that document and recognize it.

I will now open the floor to questions. Mr.
Lightstone.

Mr. Lightstone: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. I
would like to begin with the new business
and I would like to direct my first line of
questioning to the privacy commissioner.

As the Missing Persons Act has been passed
in the majority of jurisdictions in Canada in
response to the final report of the Missing
and Murdered Indigenous Women and Girls.
I would like to ask if the privacy
commissioner is familiar with this type of
legislation and what types of impacts that it
would have on the protection of privacy and
access to information here in Nunavut. Thank
you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you. Mr. Steele.

Mr. Steele: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. I
would like to thank the Member for the
question. [ would also like to thank the
Member for letting me know in advance of
the hearing that he would be raising this topic
because it was not one that I was previously
familiar with, but I am more familiar with it
now.

I will say the same thing about such a piece
of legislation as I said last time about the
proposed Claire’s Law and, that is, it is not
for me to say to this House what legislation
should be passed or should not be passed, or
whether such legislation would be effective
or not effective. That’s not really my role.
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What I can say is how it relates to the
existing access and privacy law, and the sort
of things that Members would want to be
thinking about if such a piece of legislation is
tabled in this House for consideration.

What the law does essentially is it opens up
one more avenue for the police to obtain
information that they do not currently have
because, in our system of justice, we do not
let the police go out and get information if no
crime is suspected or if there’s no actual
crime. This would say, well, under certain
circumstances, not all circumstances but
under certain circumstances, they could go
out even if there’s no evidence of a crime and
obtain information that they can’t already
get.

Now, under the existing law in Nunavut, it
would not be allowed and that’s why a piece
of legislation is required. If such a piece of
legislation were adopted, then it would fit in
with the privacy law because the privacy law
says, among other things, that it is okay to
disclose information as long as there is a law
that says that it’s okay. If this House were to
pass that legislation, it would fit in with the
existing privacy law. Thank you, Mr.
Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you. Mr. Lightstone.

Mr. Lightstone: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Thank you, commissioner, for your response.
Now I would like to pose a similar question
to the Government of Nunavut. As the
Missing Persons Act would have implications
on protection of privacy of Nunavummiut, |
do believe it is relevant to our discussions.
As the MMIWG final report was published
nearly five years ago, in 2019, I would like to
ask: has the Government of Nunavut begun
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the process of reviewing and creating such
type of legislation here in Nunavut? Thank
you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you. Mr. MacLean.

Mr. MacLean: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
There are provisions in the existing Access to
Information and Protection of Privacy Act
which allow for disclosure for law
enforcement purposes. Section 48(e) is an
echo of the ATIPP Act and there is also
section 48(s), which allows for disclosure
where the public interest outweighs any
particular privacy interest. There are existing
mechanisms within our legislation that would
allow for law enforcement disclosure for the
types of situations that you addressed in your
opening comments.

On the matter of a specific Missing Persons
Act, all I can say is we will take it under
advisement for now and we will report back
once we’ve had an opportunity to confer with
my fellow colleagues at the Department of
Justice. Qujannamiik, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you. Mr. Lightstone.

Mr. Lightstone: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Thank you, Mr. MacLean, for your response.
I’m aware that under the current ATIPP Act,
there are those provisions that do allow for
sharing of personal information to ensure the
safety of others, but as far as I can recall, |
don’t think that it is used. Specific instances
where I have raised concern in this area with
not disclosing the number of sexual offenders
in a community as that would be a breach of
their privacy, I raised that concern or I
identified that under the sections that you
have identified under the ATIPP Act. The
government does have the ability to share
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that information. That’s why I have the sense
that that section of the Act is underutilized by
the Government of Nunavut.

As this was a recommendation made in the
MMIWG final report in June 2019, a number
of years ago, several jurisdictions have
passed this legislation to enhance the ability
of local law enforcement to utilize their
powers in an expedited fashion to access
information without having to go through the
lengthy process of seeking a court order or a
warrant.

When it comes to missing persons, every
second counts, which is why I believe that
this type of legislation is crucial. On top of
that, when missing persons cross
jurisdictional borders, that’s where this type
of legislation would also be very important.

I note that I’'m out of time, so I don’t have
any...okay, sorry. I appreciate Mr.
MacLean’s comments that the government
will look into this and it is something that I
will follow up on at a later date. I think it is
crucial and would have such a beneficial
impact on missing persons in our
communities, especially those that result in
fatal outcomes.

The next question for the government: would
this type of legislation require or initiate a
privacy impact assessment? Thank you, Mr.
Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you. Mr. Suvega.

Mr. Suvega (interpretation): Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. (interpretation ends) In short, yes,
and ’'m wondering if I can ask my colleague
to provide a supplemental response through
you, Mr. Chairman.
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Chairman: Thank you. Mr. Witzaney.

Mr. Witzaney (interpretation): Thank you,
Mr. Chairman. (interpretation ends)
Absolutely, any new program or
redevelopment of a program requires a
preliminary impact assessment or a full
privacy impact assessment. If the Department
of Justice decides to take this approach, they
will have to prepare a privacy impact
assessment or a preliminary assessment for
the Department of Executive and
Intergovernmental Affairs. (interpretation)
Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you. Just to confirm to
Committee Members, I’'m not going to be
running a clock on this. There are a number
of thematic areas that Members may want to
dip in and out of. I will ask that you
recognize your colleagues and not go on for
hours at a time. I may cut somebody off at
that point if there are a number of names on
my list. Right now, there is not, so I would
again remind Members to acknowledge the
Chair if they wish to be added to the
questioning list. Mr. Lightstone.

Mr. Lightstone: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Thank you for your response. I would like to
pose another question to the government. As
there’s somewhat of a backlog of legislation
under development, would it be possible to
have this legislation expedited and, if so,
when could this type of legislation, a Missing
Persons Act, be introduced in the Assembly?
Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you. Mr. MacLean.
Mr. MacLean: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

As you know, the clock on this Assembly is
not infinite and it is unlikely that legislation

NP>N2*P 5SHECH®IAC AL 5D,
Ac_g D% BSH>NJ*a DA eCCY
PeDCIQbIL 5 CAPCNL®ILOHC PY<lo
DA*QGo A%®ba ALPNPCNSg Coa CCPe
ARND>SHECSLLE,

Cbdd 5Go CASLEEP A DSe/LLLLEC
CLOM™L ASba AY®°NPNSge Ceq CCP
ASRC> DSYLLLE PNDAQ ST
NP>NLNAS NPJ*a NN

A®ba AY®PNPNAC CL*a >N 5.
CALACJ*a DA% ®CNe, sdyeal™®, ASYPC®.

Ab/PCSe (OLMNJC): sdy®al™. MC CLACS.

PLAC® ONMNJO): SdY%al™, AbYRPCSS,
sgbeal™®, bliYa PDC/<IGAC. AASINNLYS
CoAILENAYQ®, bliPa. @ 5aAGAS LPAL*La®
2, 2022 Dobb*Lo® Cta J/CLAS NIP>YAC

P> Do/ > C b*Ja ®DcnosC

DCIGOC> POYLIAC APbAT N> 5N L UAC
Lceod <L PabdbP<se a <€ NM>YAC
PedL*LC asAQY<APEa®AN? sdyeal™,
ASYRDCs®,

Ab/RPBCSe (ONANJO): Sdyal™®, C CLACS.
mC ¢ND>C.

DS ONMNJO): Ssdvreal™, Ab/RPC®, Cbd<
JCLAS NIM>RAC CALD DSbGCeCH Lo,
PaDlcnrbde, <L AStba AL nnedC,
AL AADSILIAC A<D naede, <L
0a.2¢ A“HnaNbde CACLYYD Cbd<.

A @ ASHYLSBA IC>IST®,
ASPb>LSd< HJ< 5 <SGJCLE Db L>CHL*LC
AS b ICP>P ADSB>cASTLE, Cta Cd*a®DJ
PaDLcnnbde CAT™L Dlddaedr

AFLPREH 5%Ch PAQ Go MPLLLC
ACAA*L <L QPSR ALPNSHSo e of,
PP<da PDILEYIPIAC DGl CALS Lo
QSGUCLS NNGSeC>c PN .

PP, DPONNCNRD 5o Cbd<

A®ba AY®NPNSg® DSb>Yn ®bDLSob Cta
FPCOCDT®NAC ACndC Ac oD
ALn<DSe DEYGRDHGEL VLM AT b
DSILA“cJCP>beC*LE Acnd*La®

20



of this nature would make it through before
the end of the government. I think,
realistically, you would be looking at next
Assembly for introduction, if the government
chooses to pursue this. Thank you, Mr.
Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you. The next name I
have on my list: Mr. Simailak.

Mr. Simailak: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Good morning, all.

My first question is for the privacy
commissioner. Your term of office as the
Information and Privacy Commissioner of
Nunavut began on January 11, 2021. During
the three years that you have been in office,
has the government’s capacity to fulfill its
obligations under the Access to Information
and Protection and Privacy Act improved,
declined, or remained unchanged? Thank
you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you, Mr. Simailak. Mr.
Steele.

Mr. Steele: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. I
would say it has stayed the same. It has not
gotten worse, but it has not gotten
significantly better. During my last
appearance here in late 2022, we talked a lot
about capacity. We joked about it a little bit,
but it’s not really that funny. It’s just you
have to laugh a little bit sometimes about
some of these things.

Capacity means that the departments would
like to do a good job, but they don’t have the
right people in the right place to actually do a
good job. When I refer to capacity, that’s
what I mean. There is a distinct lack of
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capacity when dealing with the access and
privacy law.

Now, [ want to add something very important
and that is that it varies widely from
department to department. I have said each
year in my annual report, and it’s still true,
the best performing department in the
Government of Nunavut is the Department of
Health. They do a really good job at access
and privacy, and there are all kinds of good
reasons for that; one is they have a very
experienced staff person, a very
knowledgeable staff person. He’s very
diligent. He works hard to do a good job and
meet all the deadlines.

The reason why I know that the standards
that ’m trying to set are achievable is
because the Department of Health is
achieving them. It is one of the biggest. It is
one of the most complex departments in the
entire Government of Nunavut, and they are
doing what needs to be done. They are
performing at a very high level. The second,
I would say, if I can say this, is the
Department of Community and Government
Services who are also responding to
obligations under access and privacy at a
very high level.

Both departments, and I would say this even
if the Deputy Ministers were not sitting right
here looking at me, one of the reasons they
do so well is because of leadership from the
top. These two Deputy Ministers understand
access and privacy, they take it seriously,
they make thoughtful decisions about how to
respond to things, and that leadership from
the top then goes down in the organization so
that everybody knows that they are expected
to meet a certain standard.
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The last one I’ll mention if I may, Member,
that is doing than an excellent job, although I
do not see them very often, is the Workers’
Safety and Safety Commission. On the rare
occasion when they do have an access or
privacy file, they always do an excellent job.

Unfortunately, not all departments are able to
meet the standard of those three entities that I
have talked about and some do not do a very
good job, and the best I can say is that
they’re trying. They’re trying, but there are
these capacity issues. [ don’t want to
lengthen my answer any more, Mr.
Chairman, but I will just say the same issues
that we talked about last time, and that is it’s
hard for them to get the staff, it’s hard for
them to keep staff, and so it’s very difficult
for them to meet their obligations when they
don’t have the right people in the right place
to do the work that the law requires.
(interpretation) Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you. Mr. Simailak.

Mr. Simailak: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Thank you, privacy commissioner, for your
response. Staying with the privacy
commissioner, my next question for him,
commissioner, you indicated on page 2 of
your 2022-23 annual report that ““...at least
four public bodies responded to ATIPP
requests more slowly than the law requires.”
Can you specify which public bodies did not
fulfill their legal obligations? Thank you, Mr.
Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you, Mr. Simailak. Mr.
Steele.

Mr. Steele: Mr. Chairman, the four public
bodies that I was referring to in the sentence
quoted by the Member were the Department
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of Finance, the Department of Human
Resources, the Department of Education, and
the Nunavut Housing Corporation.

Now, I do want to mention one thing, Mr.
Chairman, and that is I would like the
Members to keep in mind during our
discussions today that this annual report
we’re discussing is already a little more than
one year old. In the year since then, this
particular file that Finance was dealing with,
and I have all the sympathy for them, it was a
big file and it was a very large request for
records and it’s quite a small department. It
really just overwhelmed them. They have
successfully responded to that request in the
time since this annual report was written, but
it’s a really good example, Member, of the
capacity issues that we’re talking about.

This is particularly difficult for the smaller
departments because, if they get one difficult
or big request, it simply overwhelms their
ability to respond to it. The result is that
instead of taking one month or two months,
which is what the law requires, one month is
the standard, two months if they need a little
bit of extra time, it took Finance a year to
finish its response to this request. That’s
what I was referring to in that sentence.
Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you. Mr. Simailak.

Mr. Simailak: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Thank you, commissioner. Again, for the
commissioner, my next question, your 2021-
22 annual report raised concerns regarding
“...too many vacancies, too much turnover,
not enough training, and little or no
management support” with respect to the
government’s access to information and
protection of privacy coordinators. Have you
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observed any improvements in these areas
over the past year? Thank you, Mr.
Chairman.

Chairman: Mr. Steele.

Mr. Steele: Mr. Chairman, the different
departments are all along the spectrum.
Health has always been good and continues
to be good. The Department of Community
and Government Services has always been
pretty good and they have gotten better. I was
joking earlier with the Deputy Minister that
if they keep on this track, they are going to
overtake Health, and so Health better watch
out. They held the number one spot for a
long time, and Community and Government
Services is really doing an excellent job.

All I can say, Members, for the other
departments, they’re trying but not always
successfully for many of the reasons that we
talked about last time, and that is because if
the person doing the work isn’t paid enough
money, we talked about this extensively last
time, and if it is somebody who is new to
government, they’re dealing with a
complicated law with many nuances, but
they may not understand how the
government works. They may not understand
how their own department works. If they’re
asked to go out and gather all the records on
a topic, well, what if they don’t even really
understand how their department works and
where those records might be? They don’t
even know who to ask. They don’t know
what questions to ask.

As long as some departments pay their
access coordinators at level 13, which is the
standard level for an access coordinator,
nothing is going to change. We can talk here
for the rest of the year, for the rest of the
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decade, about how to improve the law, but
nothing fundamentally is going to change if
the person doing the work is not being paid
enough money because they’re entry-level
people who need a lot of training. They need
to gain a lot of experience, but if the job
doesn’t come with housing and these jobs
don’t come with housing, then they’re
looking around for a job that does have
housing or that does pay more. Even if you
get somebody in and trained, it doesn’t take
very long before they’re gone and then you
start again.

When I see problems, to get back to your
question, Member, the reason why I don’t see
any fundamental change in some departments
is they haven’t really come to grips with that
dilemma. As long as they are paying at level
13, nothing is going to change. Thank you,
Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Mr. Simailak.

Mr. Simailak: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Thank you, commissioner. That paints a
pretty good picture of the importance of these
provisions, | think, where they can do some
improvements to fill those positions. Maybe
the salary and some benefits may need to be
looked at a bit more.

My next question is again for the
commissioner. Commissioner, you indicate
on page 2 of your 2022-23 annual report that
if public bodies cannot get more resources,
then maybe the Access to Information and
Protection of Privacy Act “should be changed
to relax the deadlines.” Earlier you
mentioned that one month is standard, two
months is with an extension, but I’'m
wondering: how do the legislation’s current
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deadlines compare to those of other Canadian
jurisdictions? Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you. Mr. Steele.

Mr. Steele: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. I just
wanted to read for the rest of the Members
and for the witnesses the next sentence after
the one the Member quoted, and that is,
“That would not be a good outcome, but at
least it would be more honest.”

Mr. Chairman, what [ was getting at there is
right now we have a law that says you have
to respond within one month. What it
actually says is 25 business days, but that’s a
difficult concept to explain. I won’t get into
it. ’m just going to call it a month. And then
there is an extension possible, but only on
certain conditions, for another month. That is
almost exactly the same as every other
jurisdiction in Canada, Member. The only
difference is in some jurisdictions, an
extension is not allowed unless the privacy
commissioner says it’s okay, whereas here, a
department can give itself an extension.

Now, if the person who applied for the
information complains, I can look at it, but it
takes several weeks or a month to go through
that process, so it’s not a very good way of
resolving it. One month is the basic rule; two
months if you need a little bit of extra time.
It’s more or less the same everywhere across
Canada.

Sorry, Mr. Chairman, if I could add one more
thing and departments like Health always
meet that deadline. That’s why I say this is
not an unreasonable standard. How do I
know that? Well, a big, complicated
department like Health always meets it. If
Health can meet it, so can the rest of them.
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Chairman: Just continue to acknowledge the
Chair afterwards, Mr. Steele. Mr. Simailak.

Mr. Simailak: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Thank you, commissioner. It’s my last
question for now for the commissioner. The
Standing Committee held a televised hearing
in September 2022 and it was on your 2020-
21 and 2021-22 annual reports. The Standing
Committee subsequently presented its report
to the Legislative Assembly in November
2022. The government’s response to the
Standing Committee’s report and
recommendations was tabled in the House in
May 2023. What observations do you have
regarding the government’s responses to the
Standing Committee’s recommendations?
Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you. Mr. Steele.

Mr. Steele: Mr. Chairman, I thought it was
an excellent response. I really did. One of the
things that I very much appreciated about Mr.
Onalik’s appearance here last time and the
report written under Mr. Onalik’s guidance
and with the work of Mr. Podmoroff was
how honest and thorough it was.

The thing is, Member, | have very little
information about what is going on inside the
Government of Nunavut about access and
privacy. Why? Because, as the Deputy
Minister said in his opening remarks, they
haven’t actually issued a report for several
years now. Now, there’s no requirement in
the law that says they have to. I’'m aware of
that. They’re not breaking any law by not
issuing an annual report, but if there’s no
annual report, then I'm looking down into a
black box, if I can call it that, and I’'m not
sure what’s going on down there.
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The reason that I so much appreciated the
government’s response to the last hearing
before this Committee was because, finally, it
gave me a great deal of factual information
that I did not previously have, and that I
assume the Members did not previously
have. I could tell they spent a lot of time and
put a lot of effort into preparing that report,
that response, and I for one appreciated that
effort very much.

Chairman: Thank you. Mr. Simailak.

Mr. Simailak: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Thank you, commissioner. Switching over to
the Department of Executive and
Intergovernmental Affairs, my first question
for them, the Information and Privacy
Commissioner indicates on page 2 of his
2022-23 annual report that “Capacity issues
inside the GN are killing ATIPP.”

As of today, how many of the government’s
access to information and protection of
privacy coordinator positions are filled and
how many are vacant? First question. Thank
you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you. Mr. Witzaney.

Mr. Witzaney (interpretation): Thank you,
Mr. Chairman. (interpretation ends) I have a
level of detail in front of me, so one moment.

We have currently two vacancies among the
departments in the access to information and
protection and privacy role, and then we have
four vacancies in our department, the
territorial ATIPP office. The good news that
we have three of those positions currently out
for competition, closing today. As I look to
the TV, if anybody is interested in access to
information and protection of privacy, please
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feel free to apply. I’ve had some interest, but
I always want to encourage more people to
apply for these jobs because I think they are
interesting.

We are in a better position than we were last
time. The Department of Education now has
an indeterminate ATIPP coordinator, which
they didn’t before, and Human Resources
also has an indeterminate coordinator. We
have covered off a couple of the more
problematic departments from the last
Standing Committee, but we are still
committed to doing better and having more
support from our office at Executive and
Intergovernmental Affairs to provide more
support and services to those departments.
(interpretation) Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you. Mr. Simailak.

Mr. Simailak: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Thank you, official. I’'m sorry; if you can
repeat the numbers of filled and vacant. I
don’t want to mix them up in my notes. If
you can repeat that part quickly, please, Mr.
Chairman. Thank you.

Chairman: If [ recall correctly, it was two
departmental positions and four at Executive
and Intergovernmental Affairs out of the five
positions there. Mr. Simailak.

Mr. Simailak: Thank you, Mr. Chairman, for
the clarification. I’'m wondering: are any of
these filled positions indeterminate or term or
casual? If there are any out there, are any of
them filled remotely, within Nunavut or
outside of Nunavut? Is that happening and, if
it is, how long will it be done remotely?
Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you. Mr. Witzaney.
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Mr. Witzaney (interpretation): Thank you,
Mr. Chairman. (interpretation ends) None of
the positions are being filled remotely
currently; they are all being filled here in
Iqaluit. (interpretation) Thank you, Mr.
Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you. Mr. Simailak.

Mr. Simailak: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Staying with the Department of Executive
and Intergovernmental Affairs, the annual
budget of the Department of Executive and
Intergovernmental Affairs’ Access to
Information and Protection of Privacy Office
has increased by 115 percent from $293,000
in the 2022-23 fiscal year to $630,000 in the
2024-25 fiscal year. How has this increase
been allocated? Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you. Mr. Witzaney.

Mr. Witzaney (interpretation): Thank you,
Mr. Chairman. (interpretation ends) The vast
majority of that money is for new person
years for the department, so my position, the
director position, and the three other
positions that are out for competition, so
that’s the access to information and
protection of privacy analyst and two access
to information and protection of privacy
specialists. Those are the main additions to
our budget. (interpretation) Thank you, Mr.
Chairman.

Chairman: Before I go back to Mr.

Simailak, Mr. Witzaney, if [ understand
correctly, there are five positions that are
allocated under the access to information
division that you’re responsible for, so you’re
missing a position. Can you clarify that, Mr.
Witzaney?
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Mr. Witzaney (interpretation): I apologize
for that, Mr. Chairman. (interpretation ends)
There’s also the manager of access to
information and protection of privacy, that
was a previously existing position, and they
added the two specialists and my position,
the director position, in the budget increase.
(interpretation) Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you for that clarification.
Mr. Simailak.

Mr. Simailak: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Again, staying with the Department of
Executive and Intergovernmental Affairs, the
government issued a request for proposals in
August 2022 for the provision of privacy and
information management specific training
and consulting services to provide support in
such areas as the conduct of privacy impact
assessments. As of today, what projects have
been undertaken by outside contractors under
this request for proposals? Thank you, Mr.
Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you. Mr. Witzaney.

Mr. Witzaney (interpretation): Thank you,
Mr. Chairman. (interpretation ends) We don’t
have that level of detail in front of us, who
has done which privacy impact assessments,
either internally or externally, but we can
confer with our colleagues in other
departments and get back to the Committee.
(interpretation) Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: To confirm, would that response
be available before the end of this hearing or
is it something that would be provided in a
written response after the hearing? Mr.
Witzaney.
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Mr. Witzaney (interpretation): Thank you,
Mr. Chairman. (interpretation ends) It may
take some time to collect that information. I
will have to go back to my colleagues in
other departments. When we get the privacy
impact assessment, we get the final version,
and so we will have to go to those
departments to ask them which of these have
been done by contractors and which of them
have been done internally. (interpretation)
Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you. Mr. Simailak.

Mr. Simailak: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Thank you, Mr. Witzaney. Again, with the
Department of Executive and
Intergovernmental Affairs, the department’s
current business plan indicates that the
territorial Access to Information and
Protection of Privacy Office “has full
training modules for Access Requests and
Privacy Breach Investigations. Work on a
training module for Privacy Impact
Assessments will commence after a full
review of the current Privacy Impact
Assessment process. The Access to
Information and Protection of Privacy Office
will initiate the development of online self-
guided courses.” As of today, what is the
status of this work? Thank you, Mr.
Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you. Mr. Witzaney.

Mr. Witzaney (interpretation): Thank you,
Mr. Chairman. (interpretation ends) The
work is ongoing. It is a fairly large project. It
involves going through our entire Privacy
Management Manual and looking at how we
do privacy management generally. It’s a
fairly old manual that we’re currently
working under. As part of this project, [ want
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to go through it and make sure that it’s still
relevant, make sure that it’s still appropriate
for our legislation, and then use that to build
good training material for ATIPP
coordinators and staff of other departments.
(interpretation) Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you. The next name |
have on my list: Ms. Brewster.

Ms. Brewster: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. |
have some follow-up questions. Perhaps we
can start with, what we have heard is that
there are a number of departments that are
doing really well in responding to these
requests, which are Finance, Human
Resources...sorry, that’s the wrong one;
Health. Let me start by asking the
Department of Health to describe their access
to information and protection of privacy
team, what is the designation of the position,
is it a manager motion, is it a coordinator
position, what’s the pay scale, and whether
or not there’s more than one position. Thank
you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you. Ms. Hunt.

Ms. Hunt (interpretation): Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. (interpretation ends) Qujannamiik
to the Member for the question. Currently,
Health has two positions. We have our access
to information coordinator and we have a
privacy officer. Those are the two roles that
we currently have within Health. | don’t have
the pay scale in front of me. It’s something
that I’m happy to go back and organize.

I would say one of the areas that | think
we’re really proud of around those two
positions is that they’re individuals who have
been with Health for some time, who have a
deep knowledge and also, I think, an
eagerness for sharing their knowledge and
helping Health understand the roles,
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functions, and requirements that individuals
have under the Act and under the law.

Sorry, lksivautaaq; I can tell you that the
positions are at a pay range 16.
(interpretation) Thank you.

Chairman: Thank you. Ms. Brewster.

Ms. Brewster: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Thank you for that response. | started reading
off the departments that weren’t doing well.

Can I go to the Department of Community
and Government Services to hear about who
their team is as well, how many positions
there are, and what pay scale they’re at?
Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you. Mr. Seeley.

Mr. Seeley: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Thank you for the question. We have a
slightly different approach than our
counterparts, the number one, the
Department of Health, wherein we used to
have one position responsible for security
and access to information requests. That
individual retired and left us with a bit of a
deficit in that space. Since that time, we have
identified accountability for access to
information requests to our director of
policy, who is at the director level. That
individual is responsible for triaging the
requests with the policy team. Those files are
typically then assigned to a staff within the
policy division to manage with the applicant.
Basically, this is the concept of cross-training
to enhance our overall capacity to manage
access requests when people are on leave or
if there are transitions. That’s one of the risks
that have been identified in previous reports.

The actual pay scales of the folks, the key
staff involved this those files, range from the
director to the manager level and include our
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legislative specialist and in some cases, our
communications team as well. That’s all
about building up capacity for this critical
function. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you. Ms. Brewster.

Ms. Brewster: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Thank you, Mr. Seeley, for that response.
I’m going back in my memory trying to
remember what different pay scales are and |
think some managers start at 18 to 20, and
then there’s the Hay Plan, which is where
directors are paid. This is substantially higher
than pay scale 13, which is what the norm is
across the territory. What we are hearing is
that if it rings true, when you pay people well
to do this work, you get good work.

I would like to go back to the Information
and Privacy Commissioner to ask whether or
not these... . There is a difference between
requests. What we can assume, I think, is that
requests that go to Health are about privacy
issues and, perhaps, requests that go to CGS
are requests for information. I’m just
guessing, so if the commissioner could talk
to us about that, I would appreciate it. Thank
you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you, Ms. Brewster. Mr.
Steele.

Mr. Steele: Every department has a
responsibility of dealing with both access to
information, that’s where somebody wants
information, but also privacy, which is, if it’s
personal information, make sure that it
doesn’t get out. Both departments are dealing
with both kinds of files.

| would say, however, that Health by its
nature, because of the vast amount of
personal health information that it holds, is
probably dealing with more privacy files than
other departments, but every department in
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one way or another is holding some form of
personal information, so they all have to be
thinking about privacy.

If I may, Mr. Chairman and Member, in
response to your last question, Member, we
got two different approaches, so these are
really well performing departments, and
what’s happening in Health is they are
paying their person enough that they’re
happy to stay there so they can build that
experience and knowledge, plus leadership
from the top. It’s a great combination. That’s
why Health is functioning well.

Community and Government Services did
have a specific person before, but that person
retired. Now the responsibility is primarily
on the desk of a manager, but that’s okay
because that is somebody who really
understands government, understands their
department. A manager can typically be more
efficient about how they go about responding
to the request because they know exactly
where to look and what they need to do, and
then they can provide guidance to the policy
analysts who are actually doing the hands-on
work.

Two different approaches and then we’re
now on the verge of a third approach, which
is the one that Executive and
Intergovernmental Affairs is doing, and that
is recognizing that the very small
departments simply do not have the ability to
follow the law properly. They just don’t
because they’re not big enough, and access
and privacy is something they might do once
in a while. They don’t develop that
experience. They don’t develop that feel for
the files. The reason why the budget has
gone up is so that they can have a central unit
so that there are, for example, people who
maybe develop that experience. If somebody
goes on vacation, the files don’t stop; there’s
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somebody else to pick it up and keep the
work going.

Those are the three ways of doing it. All of
them work, and what we need to do is to find
a way with one or the other or the other
methods of approaching this of bringing
especially the smaller departments and
smaller units of government up to that level
that these departments are already
functioning at. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you. Ms. Brewster.

Ms. Brewster: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Thank you for that response. There’s a lot to
unpack there. I am really interested in
hearing more about the differences between
access to information and privacy
coordinators as well as that health position
that’s mentioned, the privacy-focused
position.

However, | would just like to go back to the
discussion this morning about the delays in
response. We’re hearing a lot about capacity
issues and | wonder if some of the delays are
related to the nature of the requests, whether
it’s an information request or a privacy-
related request. Is there a difference between
the Government of Nunavut’s capacity to
respond to either one of those? Thank you,
Mr. Chairman. That’s to Commissioner
Steele. Thank you.

Chairman: Thank you. Mr. Steele.

Mr. Steele: When you’re talking about
timing, privacy files and access files are very
different. The law sets strict deadlines for
responding to an access request. This is when
somebody, typically a citizen, says, “I would
like information on this topic.” When they
have sent in the request and paid their $25,
there is a $25 fee to apply, and then the 25
business days start. That’s the law. The law
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says that you have 25 business days to
respond. Now, if it is a big request where
they’re asking for a lot of information or if
they need to consult with another
department, then they can maybe get another
25 business days, but that’s what the law
says is allowed.

As | said, Health always meets that deadline,
so you know it’s possible, but other
departments sometimes, for reasons that |
don’t understand, don’t even get started.
They don’t even seem to think about
responding to the request until like day 20 or
day 25, or | have had some files where a
couple of months go by and they don’t even
touch it, and then it comes to my desk and |
say, “What happened here? You know
there’s a deadline that you’re supposed to
answer. How come you didn’t start working
on it for two months?” There’s not usually a
good answer to that question. It’s capacity;
they were busy; they forgot; it was difficult,
but those are not acceptable reasons under
the law for not meeting the deadlines.

On the privacy side, it is totally different.
Privacy, depending on what the problem is,

is something that you need to deal with right
now, like right away. If somebody is
releasing information that they shouldn’t
release, you’ve got to stop that now. That
part of the law says...the emphasis is really
on acting quickly and they have to report it to
me, like right away. When | say quickly, I’m
talking about within hours, maybe within a
day or two for the most serious ones, but no
longer than that so that | can watch how they
are responding to the request because the first
thing to do when there’s a serious privacy
breach is to stop it and stop the information
from getting out however it is getting out,
doing whatever you can to contain the
problem.
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We’ve had some files, | am pointing over to
the folks from Community and Government
Services because they’re the ones who run
the Government of Nunavut’s computer
systems, and for certain kinds of breach, the
answer is to shut down a process or system
or some kind of leak, or if I can call it a back
door that somebody has found, and shut it
down as quickly as possible, within hours.
And they are very good at that stuff, I may
say.

Do you see what | mean, Member, that on
the access side, the deadlines are very
different from how quickly you have to
respond to a serious privacy breach. Thank
you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you. Ms. Brewster.

Ms. Brewster: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Thank you for that response. | feel there is a
bunch of different rabbit holes I could go
down. However, | just want to focus right
now on something that you said regarding
the $25 fee. Is this something that is easily
accessible to most Nunavummiut in terms of
their ability, number one, the charge? Is that
kind of the norm? Is there really a need for
that fee? Number two, how easy is it to make
that payment? Can a person pay it in cash?
Can they pay it by credit card? Do they have
to get a bank draft? Can they pay by debit?

The reason | ask these questions is because |
have had constituents raise issues of concern
about being able to access copies of birth
records and other records that require
payment that it’s nearly impossible to request
from Igaluit without having somebody who
can go over and make a payment because
they don’t take credit cards. If I could get a
response to that, | would appreciate it. Thank
you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Mr. Steele.
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Mr. Steele: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Thank you, Member, for the question, which
is a super interesting question that I could
talk about for quite a long time and will try
not to.

Let’s talk first of all about the $25 fee. Is it
necessary? In some provinces there is no fee.
In some provinces it is a smaller fee. $25 is
probably tied for the highest fee in Canada.
There’s lots of room for debate about
whether it needs to be $25. Now, I’m going
to say something that even my counterparts
across Canada will probably not agree with,
or at least some of them. I think having an
initial fee is a good idea. If you eliminate the
fee, then people just send in everything that
comes into their head, and this is happening
in at least one jurisdiction, British Columbia,
where they’re getting swamped with requests
because there’s nothing to make an applicant
stop and say, “Okay, is this worth $25 to
me?”

I think it’s a good idea, but I hasten to add
that our law, like laws across the country, say
that that fee can be excused in an appropriate
case. If a person believes that it’s beyond
their means to pay the fee, they can put in
their request and ask to be excused payment
of the fee. To me that’s the right balance is
charge it for the people who can pay it, but
leave the door open to excusing it to people
who otherwise might be discouraged from
finding out information from their
government.

The last thing I’ll say, Member, is that on the
privacy side, there is no fee. If somebody
believes their privacy has been breached, all
they need to do is contact the department or
contact me. There’s absolutely no fee to have
a department look into an allegation that
somebody’s privacy has been breached. The
fees are only on the access to information
side. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
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Chairman: Thank you for clarifying that,
Mr. Steele. Ms. Brewster.

Ms. Brewster: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Thank you, Mr. Steele. I’m happy to hear
that the fee can be waived. That was another
question | had written down.

Is the public information about how to access
information and privacy as an individual
sufficient? Do enough people know that it’s
free and immediate service related to
concerns about breaches of privacy? Is there
sufficient knowledge out there in the territory
about people’s ability to access their
information? Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you. Mr. Steele.

Mr. Steele: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. |
realize, Member, that | had forgotten to
answer the second part of your previous
question, so if you don’t mind, I’m going to
start with that briefly, and that was about
payment methods.

Mr. Witzaney, | think, is probably better
positioned than me to address that question
because the payments go to the Government
of Nunavut. If somebody wants to file an
appeal that comes to me, there is no fee, so
I’m not handling any money. | know there
have been issues about payment methods,
exactly the sort of issue that you talked
about, Member, where somebody assumed
that it is going to be easy to pay the $25, and
it’s not. Finance is getting better about
payment methods, but | don’t think it’s just
quite as easy yet as it should be. Mr.
Witzaney may have more information on
that.

Your question this time, Member, was about:
do people have enough information about
their rights of access and their right to file a
privacy complaint? I do not know the answer
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to that. There’s no way of knowing for sure.
Certainly, people who are regularly involved
with government, like journalists and
businesspeople who are maybe putting in
bids for contracts, understand how
government works and they would know.

Does the ordinary citizen have any idea about
the access system or what to do if they
believe their privacy has been breached? |
don’t know and it’s not really for me to say
because I consider myself to be like the
referee in a hockey game. It’s not for me to
go out and advertise the access to
information system. You don’t see referees
on TV saying, “Hey, buy tickets to the
game.” A referee is a referee. If somebody
breaks the rule, the referee blows the whistle.

The people who run the system is the
government and the departments, for
example, the Department of Health. Do
patients know that if they believe their
privacy has been breached, there is a system
and a process for receiving, investigating,
and reporting on their complaints? I don’t
know, but that’s really up to the Department
of Health, not up to me. | am the referee; |
am not the one who’s actually running the
game. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you. Ms. Brewster, did
you want me to go to the Executive and
Intergovernmental Affairs witness to get the
payment information?

Ms. Brewster: Sure, that’s helpful, Mr.
Chairman.

Chairman: Mr. Witzaney.

Mr. Witzaney (interpretation): Thank you,
Mr. Chairman. (interpretation ends) If I can
take a moment to clarify as well, we have
two broad categories of requests for
information. We have people who are
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looking for general information about what
the government is doing, but we also have a
category for personal information, so my
own human resources information or
information at the Department of Health that
constitutes personal information. For a
request for personal information, there is no
fee. The $25 fee is only payable for general
information.

We do now have the ability with our
colleagues at the Department of Finance to
collect payment through multiple different
methods. It used to be just a cheque or
money order, but we now accept credit cards,
debit cards, and any kind of currency with
the assistance from the Department of
Finance. (interpretation) Thank you, Mr.
Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you. Ms. Brewster.

Ms. Brewster: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Thanks for that response. Going back to the
responses from Executive and
Intergovernmental Affairs on those positions
within the department, the director, manager,
analyst, and specialist, what is the role of that
team in terms of communicating to the public
about access to information and protection of
privacy? Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you. Mr. Witzaney.

Mr. Witzaney (interpretation): Thank you,
Mr. Chairman. (interpretation ends) Our
Access to Information and Protection of
Privacy Office is responsible for the
communications on access to information
and protection of privacy. It is our role to
make sure that the contact list on our website
is up to date, that people know where to go to
if they have an access request or if there is a
privacy issue. It would be our team that’s
responsible for that function. (interpretation)
Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
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Chairman: Thank you. Ms. Brewster.

Ms. Brewster: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Thank you for that. We have heard from a
couple of different departments about the
different approaches to staffing and to
approaching responding to these access
requests, and what I’m hearing is that both of
these departments that are doing it really well
are at 16 and higher, including manager and
director levels and cross training. What role
does the team at the Department of Executive
and Intergovernmental Affairs have in
working with the Department of Human
Resources in order to create job descriptions
that are kind of universal, that address the
needs of each department, but more
importantly, is there a coordinating approach
to developing the pay scales for those
positions that are going out? Thank you, Mr.
Chairman.

Chairman: Mr. Suvega.

Mr. Suvega: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Thank you for that question. Some of those
activities have started in the past before. In
terms of what the department is doing today,
I can directly speak to an MOU that we’re
developing to work with departments to try
to achieve some of those things, not just
reviewing job descriptions, but also doing
things like setting service standards is to try
to provide some of that central service to
departments to improve services to not just
departments but also to the public.
(interpretation) Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Ms. Brewster.

Ms. Brewster: Thank you. I’m focusing
specifically on the development of
standardized job descriptions and
standardizing the job evaluation across the
government because what’s ideal is that there
shouldn’t be a difference in every
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department’s ability to respond to these
requests on time and with the most fulsome
response possible to the law. When it comes
to evaluating these job descriptions, there
also should be some expertise. | know from
my experience working with the Government
of Nunavut, it could be quite difficult
working with the Department of Human
Resources to evaluate positions to the right
pay scale if they don’t have the expertise in
that area. With all due respect, of course, to
our public servants that do work in job
evaluations, sometimes they just don’t have
the knowledge and expertise on the subject
matter and the work of the specific positions
that they are working with their colleagues in
other departments to create.

To me it would make sense to ensure that
there are very well-informed advice and
standards being put forward on these
positions so that there is an even playing
field for every department. If I could go back
to that question, what role does that
coordinating body of access to information
and protection of privacy team at Executive
and Intergovernmental Affairs play, if any,
related to the creation of job descriptions,
standards, as well as job evaluation ensuring
that there’s parity amongst the pay scale?
Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Mr. Suvega.

Mr. Suvega (interpretation): Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. (interpretation ends) Qujannamiik
for that question. Yes, we do look at those
variables and those conditions to try to
ensure that there’s consistency across the
board with pay scales and job descriptions.
We work closely with departments,
especially the Department of Human
Resources, and other departments as we try
to review things going forward. One of the
areas that we’re also looking at is to see how
we can attract and train Inuit and attract Inuit
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into these positions. We do look at a number
of variables, including standardization.
(interpretation) Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Ms. Brewster.

Ms. Brewster: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Another issue that was raised by Mr. Steele
is the fact that many of these positions or, |
think, maybe all of these positions, | might
be wrong, do not come with housing. What
work is being done to allocate housing to
those units so that there is a more long-term
commitment for an employee to stay in a
position? Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Mr. Suvega.

Mr. Suvega (interpretation): Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. (interpretation ends) The
competition for housing across the board is
pretty fierce, but | wonder, through you, Mr.
Chairman, if I could ask my staff to answer
that question.

Chairman: Mr. Witzaney.

Mr. Witzaney (interpretation): Thank you,
Mr. Chairman. (interpretation ends) It’s
complicated when we’re talking about
housing because positions rarely are
designated with housing. It’s more the sort
of, if I may use this, a battle royale where
departments fight over what housing is
available and try to make the case that their
position should have that housing. We have
seen success before with ATIPP
coordinators, not often, but when a
department will overly push and will de-
prioritize some of their other positions,
housing has been allocated in the past, but it
isn’t an easy sell all the time when there are a
lot of positions that need housing and there’s
a small housing pool.
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I would recommend to any of the
departments looking to fill those positions to
seek housing, I think, especially for the pay
range 13. That can be another big sort of
push to be able to get someone good is to
offer housing along with that position, but
it’s a case-by-case basis that a department
has to make based on the other positions
they’re looking to fill and what their other
priorities are. (interpretation) Thank you, Mr.
Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you. Ms. Brewster.

Ms. Brewster: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Just for clarity, and this is to the Government
of Nunavut witnesses, if you’re an employee
of the Government of Nunavut and you are
indeterminate and you have housing, is your
access to housing unit portable if you decide
to move into a position that doesn’t actually
have housing allocated to it? | see lots of
people nodding their heads, so I will move
on to another question. The answer to that is
yes, is what I’m seeing, and I’ll just nod
along with all of you.

I think that’s a really important message to
get out there, especially for people who are
building their careers, that if you do get a
position that is indeterminate and you do
have housing, you do have the option of
applying for other positions within the
Government of Nunavut in order to build
your experience and knowledge about how
the Government of Nunavut works and in
order to decide what you want to do with
your career within the Government of
Nunavut.

I think that’s really important to say because
it’s not always very apparent to people that
they can move around and they can even
change their whole career path within the
Government of Nunavut, if they so choose. |
would highly recommend doing that,
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especially if you’re dissatisfied with your
current work and your current work
atmosphere, you can bring your housing with
you and take it. With that, I’ll stop there for
now, Mr. Chairman. Thank you.

Chairman: Thank you. Just before |
recognize the clock and go for a break, |
would like to get a clarification on Mr.
Witzaney’s comment. There are currently
positions, two are closing today, ATIPP
specialists, and another one and it clearly
states that subsidized staff housing is not
available. Was staff housing requested with
those positions? Did the director join the
battle royale, as he stated, for those two
positions and was just unsuccessful? Mr.
Witzaney.

Mr. Witzaney (interpretation): Thank you,
Mr. Chairman. (interpretation ends) I’ll have
to get back to the Committee on that one.
That did pre-date my time in this position,
but I should be able to get something
hopefully by the end of today from our HR
people. (interpretation) Thank you, Mr.
Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you. I’ll recognize the
clock and we will take a 15-minute break.
Thank you.

>>Committee recessed at 10:39 and
resumed at 11:03

Chairman: Thank you. I would like to call
the Committee meeting back to order. The
next name | have on my list: Mr. Quqgiag.

Mr. Quqgiag: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
My first three questions will be for the
commissioner.

You indicate on page 5 of your 2022-23
annual report that your office responded to
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nine requests for comments during the fiscal
year.

You indicate on page 7 of your 2022-23
annual report that you provided “comments
on policy proposals and/or advice on specific
situations” to a number of different
organizations and individuals, including an
Inuit organization.

Inuit organizations are not considered to be
public bodies under the Access to
Information and Protection of Privacy Act.

The question is: under what circumstances
does your office undertake work on behalf of
non-government entities? Thank you, Mr.
Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you. Mr. Steele.

Mr. Steele: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. My
office acts as a general resource for the
people of Nunavut on the access and privacy
law. When it comes to that specific function
that the Member is referring to, that is, a
request for comments or advice, that part of
my work is not limited to the Government of
Nunavut.

In the particular example that the Member
refers to, there was an Inuit organization that
was developing a submission to an entity of
the Government of Nunavut. They wanted to
refer to the access and privacy law in their
submission and they just wanted to check
with me to make sure that they had
understood correctly how the legislation
works so that their submission to the
government would be stronger. Whether it’s
an Inuit organization or a private citizen or a
Member of this legislature, I am willing to
provide that kind of general advice to
anybody.
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To conclude, Member, for example,
Members of this Legislative Assembly are
not covered by the access and privacy law,
but if one of you approaches me looking for
advice, | will be of course more than happy
to respond. It’s the same sort of thing with
this particular Inuit organization. Thank you,
Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you. | have and you have
assisted me, Mr. Commissioner. Mr.

Quqgqiag.

Mr. Quqgqiaq: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Thank you, commissioner, for your response.
My next line of questioning is: are you aware
if Nunavut Tunngavik Incorporated and/or
the three regional Inuit organizations are
considering establishing an access to
information and/or protection of privacy
system that can be utilized by Nunavut Inuit
in respect to information in the possession of
these organizations? Thank you, Mr.
Chairman.

Chairman: Mr. Steele.

Mr. Steele: Mr. Chairman, | am not aware of
any initiative of that kind nor would I expect
to be aware of it or to be consulted about it.
Because Nunavut Tunngavik Incorporated
and the three regional Inuit organizations are
not public bodies of the Government of
Nunavut, they do not come under the access
and privacy law. | would really have no role
to play with any system that they might
develop.

If they are thinking about such a system, it
would be, of course, their own initiative. It
would be a very interesting idea. If they
wanted to consult with me about how to
make such a system could work properly, |
would be only too happy to respond to them,
but on that one, the initiative would have to
come from them. At the moment, I’m not
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aware of any initiate of that kind. Thank you,
Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you. Mr. Quqgiag.

Mr. Quqgqiag: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Thank you, commissioner, for your response.
I’ll move on to municipalities.

The Access to Information and Protection of
Privacy Act was amended by the Legislative
Assembly in September 2017 to allow for the
designation of municipalities as being
“public bodies” under the regulations. This
would make them subject to the legislation.

In your view, which of Nunavut’s
municipalities currently have the capacity to
manage responsibilities under the Access to
Information and Protection of Privacy Act
and which do not? Thank you, Mr.
Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you. Mr. Steele.

Mr. Steele: Mr. Chairman, that question, I’'m
sure, is better answered by the Department of
Community and Government Services, but |
will offer a few words of background. If any
Members are unsure of the background to
this issue, it did come up during my last
hearing before this Committee.

As the Member said, in 2017 this Legislative
Assembly passed a law making it possible
for Nunavut’s municipal governments to be
passed by the law. All it would take is a
regulation from the government to designate
one or more municipalities. If that regulation
were passed, the municipality would then be
subject to the access and privacy law, just
like any department of the Government of
Nunavut.

Since 2017, no such regulation has been
passed and therefore, no municipality is
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covered by the access and privacy law. There
has been some discussion behind the scenes
over the years. There’s a real concern about,
this word again, Mr. Chairman, capacity. The
hamlets in Nunavut are very small. They
have very few staff. It’s not clear that they
have the resources necessary to mange their
records or to answer access requests or to
deal with privacy issues as the law requires.

There would have to be some work done
between the Department of Community and
Government Services and the hamlets to get
ready to be able to implement the law. Right
now, nobody on either side seems to think
that that’s realistic at any time in the near
future. Obviously, if there was one
municipality that might have the ability to do
it, it would be the City of Igaluit and that’s
only because of its size and the number of
staff that it has, but even they have not
shown a great deal of interest in coming
under the access and privacy law.

That’s the background to it, Mr. Chairman,
and any further information on that, I think,
would have to come from Community and
Government Services. Thank you, Mr.
Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you. Mr. Quqgiag.

Mr. Quqgiaq: Thank you Mr. Chairman.
Thank you, commissioner, for your response.
| agree with you completely. It’s always the
capacity issues when it comes to
municipalities and it’s a known fact that |
have spoken with quite a few senior
administrative officers and as well as, | have
met with the councillors.

I’m going to move on to the government
witnesses. The Access to Information and
Protection of Privacy Act was amended by
the Legislative Assembly in September 2017
to allow for the designation of municipalities
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as being “public bodies” under the
regulations. The question is: what is a
realistic timetable for introducing regulations
to bring municipalities under the legislation?
Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you. Mr. Seeley.

Mr. Seeley: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. As
far as the timeline to bring municipalities
under the regulations, I’m going to take that
a step back. There’s a lot of development that
would need to happen within municipalities
interesting in taking it on and at their own
discretion. The development of those training
resources, those records management
systems, and frankly, the attitudes and the
culture within the municipal corporations
take a minimum of five years to build. That
Is sustained effort and continual investment
into preparing for those regulations to come
into effect, and I’m estimating that would be
a minimum of a five-year cycle.

We have engaged specifically with the City
of lgaluit following their motion a couple of
years ago and we have engaged the Nunavut
Association of Municipalities on this. It is an
ongoing discussion, as the commissioner
mentioned, but I would say that it would be a
minimum of five years before any
municipality would have the tools, resources,
and systems in place to be compliant with
regulations coming into force. Thank you,
Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you. Mr. Quqgiag.

Mr. Quqqiaq: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Thank you, Mr. Seeley, for your response.
This will be my last question to the
government witnesses.

The government’s response to the standing
committee’s November 2022 report indicated
that “A large amount of time and effort went
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into amending the Access to Information and
Protection of Privacy Act to account for the
addition of municipalities and their unique
circumstances. Through consultation,
training was created and provided, but there
are two fundamental hurdles that remain.
Access to information is dependent on
records management regimes and human
resource capacity.”

The question is: how is the department
working with the Municipal Training
Organization and the Nunavut Association of
Municipalities to address this issue? Thank
you, Mr. Chairman. That’s my last question.

Chairman: Thank you. Mr. Seeley.

Mr. Seeley: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. Our
department’s primary role with the
Municipal Training Organization and the
Nunavut Association of Municipalities is to
provide financial support toward their
training priorities. The training calendar
identified by the Municipal Training
Organization is set by the membership and
that consists primarily of municipal
administrators.

At the point where information, privacy and
records management training is one of those
priority training areas identified by the
municipal administrator board of the
Municipal Training Organization, it will be
the action that the training organization
would take. They would include it in the
training calendar to begin that training.

Our primary role is funding that organization
and providing, I think, some insight into
pending pressures that municipalities may be
facing and as well, providing some of the
best practices identified within the
Government of Nunavut, as we’re already
managing this legislation, and some of the
considerations around it.
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I hope that answers your question. Thank you
very much, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: If I may, just before I go to my
next name, | would just like to get a little
clarification with the response that the
government gave the Standing Committee in
November a year and a half ago. It stated
again, like the Member mentioned, that a
large amount of time and effort went into
developing the training. You mentioned that
you provide the funding for the Municipal
Training Organization. Has any of that
training been provided to date? Mr. Seeley.

Mr. Seeley: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. |
apologize; | missed that part of the question.

I would have to look at the training calendar
for the Municipal Training Organization to
see how many times courses have been
delivered. We can certainly pull that
information up quite quickly to see what year
and perhaps even what participation rates
would be. I’m happy to provide that, but I
don’t have that information here in front of
me today. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you and | appreciate that.
Just going back again, Mr. Seeley, you
mentioned that there would probably like a
five-year time frame to implement something
like this. When training is offered, obviously
there’s an expense associated with creating
the curriculum and providing the training.

If we’re looking at an outside time frame and
if training is being offered, my concern there
would be that it’s already outdated or the
people who are there may not be there, and
you’re kind of starting from scratch three,
four, or five years down the road. I’ll leave
that as a comment. Oh, sorry, you do want to
respond to that, Mr. Seeley. Go ahead.
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Mr. Seeley: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. |
appreciate the opportunity to respond. For
your clarification, the minimum five-year
period that | mentioned earlier, it is assuming
that municipalities identified this as a
strategic objective that they want to take on.

Currently, training is provided through the
Municipal Training Organization through a
number of different resources aligned with
different municipal administrative needs. If
this was identified as a priority by municipal
leadership and a strategic investment was to
be made to ensure the municipalities had
access and had the capacity to take this on,
that would be the time frame.

To your point about the turnover and the
starting and restarting, absolutely, you’re
correct. We would need to treat this like a
strategic objective and continually invest in it
each year, along with the other priorities
identified by the municipal leadership. Thank
you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: If I may, again, to one of the
other responses you made was regarding the
motion that the City of Igaluit had put
forward a few years ago now on
implementing or initiating the
implementation of the access to information
and privacy legislation, has there been any
follow-up since that motion was done with
the city? | do know the commissioner has
appeared fairly recently in front of the city
council. I would like to first start with Mr.
Seeley. Has there been any follow-up or any
progress on that file? Mr. Seeley.

Mr. Seeley: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. Yes,
so we did reach out to the city through
correspondence regarding the upcoming
deadline that they had set. At that time, their
response was that they were still considering
that motion and the steps that would need to
be taken in order to advance it.
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The next action on this is on the part of the
city to initiate next steps on it. That’s where
the file currently sits, but of course we did
follow up with them to make sure they were
following through on their resolution. Thank
you.

Chairman: Thank you for that, Mr. Seeley.
The next name | have on my list: Mr.
Savikataag.

Mr. Savikataaq: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
I just have few here. I would like to ask Mr.
Steele there, a Member asked about the
capacity issues on the Access to Information
and Protection of Privacy Act, and he said
that the Act should be changed to relax the
deadlines, but he clarified that’s not ideal; at
least it would be honest.

I would like to get the commissioner’s
position on, wouldn’t it be the same as if
there are too many speeders, too many
people driving vehicles that are not registered
and not enough bylaw enforcement traffic
officers, so we should change the law to
accommodate the law breakers? Isn’t that
very close to what is being suggested? Thank
you.

Chairman: Interesting analogy, but Mr.
Steele.

Mr. Steele: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. You
know, I probably should have written that
sentence differently than I did. | was being,
the English word is, facetious when | said
that, which doesn’t translate very well in an
annual report.

Here’s what I’m getting at, Member, and that
is that right now, the law sets deadlines and
there are too many units of the Government
of Nunavut that are not meeting the
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deadlines, and then they just shrug and say,
“Well, we’re doing the best we can with the
resources that we have.” The real answer is,
of course, Member, to make sure that the
people doing this work are properly trained,
properly resourced, and are able to develop
the experience to be really good at their jobs.
Some departments are good at it; too many
are not. That’s what we really want. We want
to raise the level.

What I’m saying in that sentence in my
annual report is we’re in the worst situation
now where we are setting a law and the
departments don’t follow it, and there are no
consequences for not following it, so they
just say, “We’re doing the best we can.”
What | mean there is that it would be better
to stop pretending. Let’s stop pretending that
departments are meeting deadlines because
they’re not.

To use your analogy about speeders, if you
have a law saying the speed limit is whatever
it is and if there’s no bylaw on the road and
everybody knows that you’re not enforcing
it, why pretend that we have a speed limit at
all? The best situation, of course, is to have
people following the speed limit and, if they
don’t, bylaw will catch them. Really, at the
end of the day, | probably should not have
written it quite the way I did. The real
answer, the only answer, and the one that |
hope that we’re all aiming at is to make sure
that the law is followed in every case. Thank
you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you. Mr. Savikataag.

Mr. Savikataaq: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
I’ll switch almost the same question to the
government side.

When the legislation was drawn up, they
deemed it reasonable that 25 working days,
or one month, was a reasonable amount of
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time for the government to respond to, yet
we hear that in most instances, they’re not
meeting that deadline. Capacity issues can’t
always be an excuse all the time. I would like
to get the government’s position on why they
can’t meet the 25-working-day deadline.
When the legislation was drafted, the
government obviously thought that 25 days
was a reasonable amount of time. Thank you.

Chairman: Thank you. Mr. Suvega.

Mr. Suvega (interpretation): Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. (interpretation ends) Qujannamiik
to the Member for that question. | think that
the practices that have been used are fairly
consistent with most jurisdictions. I’ll start
off with that.

On the capacity side of it, yes, there are a
variety of examples of some departments that
might not have capacity and those that have
excellent capacity. | have also alluded to
some of the work that we’re trying to do as a
central agency is to try to help to build that
capacity and set some of those standards, but
I think that what we have tried to do is
adhere as best as we can to national
standards, help each other out, and ensure
that departments are meeting their
obligations. (interpretation) Thank you, Mr.
Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you. Mr. Savikataaq.

Mr. Savikataag: Thank you Mr. Chairman.
Sticking with the government side, we heard
earlier that there is only one of the five
positions for access to information that is
filled. Is Executive and Intergovernmental
Affairs fulfilling their obligations and
capacity with only one permanent position
out of five in that category? Thank you.

Chairman: Thank you. Mr. Suvega.
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Mr. Suvega (interpretation): Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. (interpretation ends)
Qujannamiik, Member, for that question. As
stated today, | think those competitions are
closing today. We’re hopeful for a good
number of applicants. The vacancies specific
to EIA, are we fulfilling that? For the most
part, we’re beginning to build capacity and
we also help each other out as departments
from time to time. There is that capability
that we draw upon. I’m hopeful that with
filling these positions, the additional capacity
doesn’t just help EIA,; it also helps other
departments across the board. (interpretation)
Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you. Mr. Savikataag.

Mr. Savikataaq: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
I hope they’re successful in getting good
candidates.

I’1l switch gears now and go back to the
privacy commissioner, just to get his position
on how... . As Mr. Steele stated earlier, the
Members of Legislative Assembly here were
sort of exempt from privacy laws. | would
like to get his position on, from time to time
MLAs are handed or told information and
say, “Do as you wish or want with this
information.” Is it public information even
though it was private or it may have been
private information before it was handed to
the MLA? Thank you.

Chairman: Just to clarify, that would be
information provided to us by constituents to
address a concern that they have raised. Mr.
Steele.

Mr. Steele: Mr. Chairman, the access and
privacy law does not apply to the Members
of the Legislative Assembly because,
remember, the basic idea is that on the access
side, it’s a way of holding the Government of
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Nunavut to account. On the privacy side, it is
a way of ensuring that the Government of
Nunavut holds tightly onto the information
that is the personal information of citizens.

Now, as all Members know, Members of this
Legislative Assembly are not the
Government of Nunavut, not individually or
collectively. You are a separate body of the
Legislative Assembly, and the privacy and
access law does not apply to you. The
technical answer to your question, Member,
is yes, you really can do whatever you want
with information that comes to your
attention. Is it a good idea? No. The
difference is that you are not governed by the
same set of rules.

What | would encourage Members to do is to
be aware in a general way of how the access
and privacy law works because they are good
rules and they are carefully thought out about
what information can be released under what
circumstances. If you follow those rules,
you’re going to stay out of trouble, but are
you breaking the law if you don’t follow it?
No, because it does not apply to you.

Can you get into political trouble for
releasing information that somebody
considers to be their personal information?
Absolutely, you can, but then that’s a matter
for this House to deal with and certainly not
for me or anybody else outside the House if a
Member has done something that is thought
to be inappropriate. Thank you, Mr.
Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you. Mr. Savikataaqg.

Mr. Savikataaq: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Switching back to the government side with
Health there to get their position, there’s a
right to privacy, but is there also a right to
know?
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I’ll take TB for example. Tuberculosis seems
to be quite rampant right now within the
territory. Some communities have outbreaks
and some have tuberculosis, but it’s not an
outbreak. If someone has tuberculosis and
they got tested and they know that they have
tuberculosis and they go to regular functions
where it’s the same people, for example, a
local housing association meeting or a hamlet
meeting or the Legislative Assembly here,
are they obligated to let the same people that
are normally there to know that they have a
communicable disease that may be
transmittable? Thank you.

Chairman: Mr. Steele. My apologies; I
thought you were directing the question to
the commissioner. Ms. Hunt.

Ms. Hunt (interpretation): Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. (interpretation ends) Qujannamiik
to the Member. It’s an interesting question
because | think that you’re talking about a
couple of things around access to information
and the privacy of personal health
information. Also, there are components
under the Act that are powers, for lack of a
better term, of the CPHO or DCPHO or the
public health officer of Nunavut.

There are some important things to consider;
one, if an individual has been diagnosed with
tuberculosis and they are being followed
through the health care system and offered
treatment and they refuse treatment, and are
placing a community or others at risk, there
is the ability for the chief public health
officer to do an order that would then go
through the court for approval to ensure that
an individual was then compliant with taking
the medication for their tuberculosis.

When it comes to sharing the information
with the community about an individual who
has tuberculosis, for example, and it could be
any other communicable diseases, we don’t
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have the ability to share that information
because it is protected or private under the
Act. What we really do focus on is ensuring
that there’s good education, promaotion,
communication, and prevention so that
individuals and communities are making
good decisions around how they can protect
themselves and how they can promote good
health behaviours. An individual, though,
could ask for access to their own personal
health information around their health status
and that would be appropriate.

We have the rule of five. Especially in small
communities where the potential of exposing
individuals’ information by sharing certain
data, if it’s under five, could risk that to an
individual and so we wouldn’t share that
information, but often communities are very
small and there is the trail of discussion and
there is information and assumptions out
there. Thank you, Iksivautaag.

Chairman: Mr. Savikataaq.

Mr. Savikataaq: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
My understanding is that the person who has
a communicable disease that no one else
would know because it’s private information,
and I don’t have an issue with that; it’s
private, but that person is not obligated to
inform the people around them that they meet
regularly that they could potentially be
spreading a communicable disease? For
example, if one of us here had tuberculosis,
we’re not obligated to tell anyone here that
we have it then, eh? Thank you.

Chairman: Ms. Hunt.

Ms. Hunt: Thank you, Iksivautaag. Thank
you to the Member for further clarification.
An individual does not have to tell the public
about their health status. However, when
they are receiving diagnosis and treatment,
they are asked information and there’s a
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process of what’s called contact tracing. The
public health team would be asking the
individual about their contacts and then
following up with those contacts to inform
them that they may have been exposed and
offering them diagnosis, and then potentially
treatment if they have ended up with that
communicable disease. Thank you,
Iksivautaag.

Chairman: Mr. Savikataag.

Mr. Savikataaq: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
For clarity, then, because | didn’t hear it, let’s
say one of us had tuberculosis here, we’re not
obligated to tell anyone in this room that we
have it. Thank you.

Chairman: Thank you. I’ll say that’s correct.
Mr. Savikataag.

Mr. Savikataaq: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
I’ll pose almost the same question to the
commissioner now. Does the right to privacy
overrule the right for a person to know what
harm they may be getting into in terms of
being informed or the right to know what
situation you’re in? Thank you.

Chairman: Thank you. Mr. Steele.

Mr. Steele: Under the existing law, yes.
Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Mr. Savikataag.

Mr. Savikataaq: Thank you. I’ll goon to a
different matter. I will go back to the
government side, but this time with
Community and Government Services.

Mr. Steele, you stated earlier that when the
hamlets want to start enforcing or using the
Access to Information and Privacy
Protection Act, that’s when the initiation will
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start. If a hamlet never wants to be part of it,
are they exempt from it forever or is there an
end date where they will say, “Okay, it has
been 20 years; you’ve got to get with the
program now”? Thank you.

Chairman: Mr. Seeley.

Mr. Seeley: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Currently it’s at the discretion of the
municipal council to take the initiative. At
some point, a decision will need to be made
to make it a mandatory requirement. | think
that that point in time would be identified in
consultation with the Nunavut Association of
Municipalities based on a timeline for
implementation that we projected ahead of
time, but currently it’s at the discretion of
each respective municipal council. Thank
you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Mr. Savikataaq.

Mr. Savikataaq: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
What is that timeline? Thank you.

Chairman: Mr. Seeley.

Mr. Seeley: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. |
thank the Member for the question. Currently
there is no definitive timeline for it being
brought into force. Thank you, Mr.
Chairman.

Chairman: Mr. Savikataaq.

Mr. Savikataaq: Thank you. I brought this
issue up before in the past and I’ll bring it up
again. The sunshine list for government
employees that make over a certain amount,
other provinces have it, and we have never
really agreed on what the amount should be,
but I would like to get the government’s
position on whether they’re still looking at
maybe putting, for lack of a better word, it is
called a sunshine list down south, but over a
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certain amount of salary that a GN worker
gets that is published so that Nunavummiut
know who gets over a certain amount,
whatever that amount would be deemed to
be. Thank you.

Chairman: As an example, it was just
recently covered in media that Ontario has
what is called a sunshine list of civil servants
that make over $100,000 a year, for the
listening public so they know what we are
talking about. Mr. Witzaney.

Mr. Witzaney (interpretation): Thank you,
Mr. Chairman. (interpretation ends) There
were discussions that happened after the
legislation amendment was passed in 2017
between the Department of Human
Resources, the Department of Finance, and
our own department here. At the time, there
were some serious concerns raised about
what impact that list being public, especially
at, let’s say, a lower level like in Ontario of
$100,000, could have on individuals who
may have more money than their family
members and who, if their name was
published, would then have pressure put on
them to provide more money to their family
or to take on different roles that they weren’t
prepared for.

That discussion didn’t go anywhere past that.
I think the decision was made at that time not
to pursue it because of the concerns about
privacy and about the effect that it could
have on individuals in especially smaller
communities, but to the best of my
knowledge, there are no current
conversations happening to bring that into
force or to publish that list. (interpretation)
Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you. Mr. Savikataaqg.

Mr. Savikataaq: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
I’m curious as to why they thought that

LcLAS AZACPLAo ™o

¢ P> o e 4 sbNPJN=c Co<c
ZcCEof NM><o? ALLSH Pa DA™
DsbPea < Pa. PDNIRPa o ND>LYSL L. TC
ANAC.

ANAc OLMNJO): LIMdase. <D<Lo®
AcnADUL <EPPde ASIL SNl ASNNEJ
JDPYDLoG Lcbod CAPI LcLAS

A AYAAIDC @ PNAPNS CLea Sbo
JBPILoMNC LN QPN
<DCP>HECHIC, Sbos > </Pd* of
D®CPo<SL L. LcUAC PP<lo CAbI<
NNG®CHALDLC <*MPNOCA*a GY®IJC,
sgytal®, Ab/RPCS,

A/ <XPCSe OLNNJO): sdeal™®.
JPYaSe/NPbo>e. T Sd<dn.

SddN: SdY%al™®, AbYRPCS®. ORNMNJC®I5®)
>d< blMYa. ¢ JASCdNNa<seCeb
SHGNDYCna® ARNNCd. LPASILS 9
Cbda.o 2022-2023 SGJCL®YD>NC Dovb*M o
ALACC PGS, SbD>ANAPbo®DUC 0a D¢
LRLC SbGaDYre <N o
AStba AL NcLo¢ PPdDA*Q S.0¢
DsedsbA>deq eI% L5 <Sa DD/ <N,
Cbd< Do®bNC LeLe DAL I Nepa<seCN
CL%a <5GJ oC% <D<, a5 A%/<%q ®AC
PATe APSNSHSLEL%® Coa SbGRDYens<d <L
PAa® ALdNSbSLAMUSe C AL DC>SbeCso™L
Lceod? ORMNJPa®D%) Sdhal™,
AbIRDCsb,

Ab/RPCSe (OLANJO): Sdy>al™®. C /NDe.

ZND>S OLANJO): AbYRPCS®, Do
DPa S/ NN<bb asd=Hd IC>PYse Coa
DSbLh®CxL. Coa /D ce< NI Do
L>aDA*Q® Dobbe<dnc PPYLLS. >d<
QSGJCLeY>NC Padbt NNGGePC
LLeDSALIC Nepa<IS AP >SeChb, Pr<lo
CALC*L DG O™ 5, PP DSYLIM
Dobbbb CAL**LcLS N5ePSheCSePe CALa
ADYSbIA*Q PLc >SOIL,

A, Cbdd DabbC Nsepc >eIC G oCse
NP<LE, CALASILLE Ddao DSb>YAr/L>* Cbb.

67




privacy issues, if they are making too much
money, they would have to support families,
would be part of it. For example, you could
look up my salary to the penny how much |
make. It’s tabled. It’s published. Everyone in
Nunavut knows how much each MLA,
Minister, and the Premier make. It’s public
information.

I would like to get the government’s position
on what’s the difference if they can publish
all the MLASs’, Ministers’, and the Premier’s
salary, why can’t they publish civil servants’
salaries that are over a certain amount,
whatever the amount, either it would be
$100,000 or $150,000, whatever that amount
is? Thank you.

Chairman: Thank you. To supplement the
Member’s question, who would make that
decision? Mr. Witzaney.

Mr. Witzaney (interpretation): Thank you,
Mr. Chairman. (interpretation ends) As to
who would make that decision, it would be a
policy decision on the part of the Department
of Human Resources and possibly the
Department of Finance, who is responsible
for pay and compensation.

There are additional considerations when it
comes to the volume of staff that we would
be doing this with. It would be based on sort
of some of our privacy-protective parts of the
legislation. As well, the privacy section does
outline harms when it comes to privacy
breaches. We would look at that when
making that determination to see which
harms could apply, but further to that point,
the discussion also is different when it comes
to public servants and the volume of public
servants because each person has sort of a
different home life, they have different
pressures and different situations than the
Members of the Legislative Assembly. There
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are certain factors that we have to take into
account.

At the time, it was decided by the
departments responsible that they didn’t want
to continue on that approach. (interpretation)
Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Mr. Savikataaq.

Mr. Savikataaq: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
It’s interesting about the volume of workers.
Would the government official be able to say
whether the volume of workers in Nunavut is
less, equal, or more to Ontario, who does
have a sunshine list? Thank you.

Chairman: Mr. Witzaney.

Mr. Witzaney (interpretation): Thank you,
Mr. Chairman. (interpretation ends) Volume
IS more speaking to the comparison between
Members of the Legislative Assembly and
members of the public service, not
necessarily comparing our public service to
the Government of Ontario. Wages are much
higher here than in Ontario, so there would
be more people who would meet that higher
level. It would have to be a fairly extensive
discussion and analysis piece by the
departments responsible. | can’t commit for
them to look into this, but I’m sure they’re
watching and hearing that this is a concern to
bring forward to their departments.
(interpretation) Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Mr. Savikataaq.

Mr. Savikataaq: Thank you. Staying on that
same information that | note, is there any
rights for Nunavummiut to know, for
example, if they put a request to ATIPP for a
person’s salary, would that ATIPP request be
obligated to, like if someone put an ATIPP
for someone’s certain salary? Thank you.
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Chairman: To clarify, for an individual or
for a position? Mr. Savikataaq.

Mr. Savikataaq: Thank you. For a position.
Chairman: Thank you. Mr. Witzaney.

Mr. Witzaney (interpretation): Thank you,
Mr. Chairman. (interpretation ends) We’ve
actually had this happen before, not for one
specific person but for any people making
above a certain salary range. | think it was
shortly after we passed the 2017
amendments. One of the news organizations
in town made a request for that information.
We did provide it to them with some
information redacted, | believe, just for some
of the lower ranges.

I would have to go back and double-check
that, but it is possible for someone to ATIPP
or to make a request for information and to
get some information. It would have to be on
a case-by-case basis and we would have to
balance the applicant’s right to information
with the right of the individual in that
position based on section 23 of the Access to
Information and Protection of Privacy Act,
which deals with personal information and
the exemption from disclosure.
(interpretation) Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you. If I recall correctly,
the specific income wasn’t provided, but the
salary range of that position was provided.
Mr. Savikataag.

Mr. Savikataaq: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Staying on sort of the same theme here, |
remember in the past where ATIPP was used
quite a bit for people appealing a position
that they didn’t get through human resources,
just to find out exactly what was said about
the unsuccessful applicant. Is that still a good
portion of work that is being done by the
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ATIPP committee from each department?
Thank you.

Chairman: Mr. Witzaney.

Mr. Witzaney (interpretation): Thank you,
Mr. Chairman. (interpretation ends)

Individuals who work for the Government of

Nunavut are one of our bigger applicant
categories, should | say, who use the Access

to Information and Protection of Privacy Act.

It’s mostly in regard to employee relations
matters, where there’s some sort of
disciplinary process or there’s a person who
is concerned that someone has been saying
something about them or doing something
else inappropriate, but it does continue to be
one of our larger files. It’s why the
Department of Human Resources sort of
consistently has some of the higher numbers
of requests for a department. In previous
years of our annual report, you can see
they’re at the top end of number of requests
and that continues to today. (interpretation)
Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you. If I can follow up a
little bit on that, I note that Community and
Government Services, from what |
understand from some media coverage, has
also gone through access to information
requests on non-successful bidders. I would
like to get Mr. Witzaney’s position on how
the public watching can take that into
perspective of when we’re looking at HR
matters, when we’re looking at tender bids
and contract awards. Is there a message that
Mr. Witzaney would like to provide to the
public on the validity and the usefulness of
what information could and should be
requested? Mr. Witzaney.

Mr. Witzaney (interpretation): Thank you,
Mr. Chairman. (interpretation ends) | don’t
want to dissuade anybody from applying
under the Access to Information and
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Protection of Privacy Act. I think that there
are a lot of mechanisms available to
individuals through the Government of
Nunavut if there are concerns that they have
not been treated fairly, mechanisms under the
Employee Relations Division, mechanisms
that are available for appeals of various
decisions, let’s say, of a request for
proposals.

That’s not to say that there isn’t value in the
access to information and protection of
privacy system, and everybody out there
does have a right to request information,
particularly information about themselves. I
would encourage you to make the request. |
think that we’re here for that purpose.
(interpretation) Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you. Before | recognize
the clock, I’m going to follow up with
another question on a response that Mr.
Witzaney provided just moments ago, saying
that human resources are quite a common
topic of applications for access to
information and privacy. Taking out the fact
that it’s just HR, what is the ratio of
applications for information from within
Igaluit itself to outlying communities in the
rest of the territory? Mr. Witzaney.

Mr. Witzaney (interpretation): Thank you,
Mr. Chairman. (interpretation ends) | don’t
have that level of detail in front of me and
it’s not a data point that we track is where the
applicant is making the request from. They
are mostly from Igaluit, just knowing and
working on the file for a long time. It’s
where the majority of our workers are; it’s
where the majority of people are. The
majority does come from here, but | would
have to do a pretty deep dive into the files to
take a look at exactly where the requests are
coming from. (interpretation) Thank you, Mr.
Chairman.
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Chairman: Thank you. I understand that Mr.
Seeley wants to supplement the response as
well. Mr. Seeley.

Mr. Seeley: Thank you for recognizing me,
Mr. Chairman. | want to jJump off Mr.
Witzaney’s comment regarding public
procurement, | think, based on the Chair’s
question earlier.

We do receive a lot of questions and
enquiries regarding public procurement. It is
public procurement. The department and the
government are committed to fair and
transparent public procurement. Our tenders
are posted online. We do publish reports on
our contracting and leasing activities. We do
table those reports and we have added
additional reports to the tabling list over the
last couple of years, many of them at the
discretion of the Minister. The reason | raise
this is that very often, the first and best step
from the public or vendors is to reach out to
the department and just ask for the
information. Much of the information is
publicly available already and our default is
open; to share it.

The more formal approach to circulating the
information through ATIPP, of course,
triggers the clock and the timing on it. Our
exercise as far as releasing the information,
whether it be from a vendor or from the
public, is open and the first outreach directly
to the department is certainly welcomed.
We’re happy to share and help people
navigate the existing documents and
publications of the department, including
procurement. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you. Just to elaborate a
little bit on earlier what 1 was talking about is
unsuccessful bidders using the access to
information legislation to potentially get
access to detailed information within a
proponent’s submission. Mr. Seeley.
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Mr. Seeley: Thank you, Mr. Chairman, for
the clarification. There are some sections of
the Act specific to that. If | could, perhaps,
ask my colleague from the Department of
Justice to elaborate on that. Thank you, Mr.
Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you, Mr. Seeley. Mr.
MacLean.

Mr. MacLean: Qujannamiik, Mr. Chairman.
The principal section respecting commercial
and commercially sensitive information is
section 24 of the Access to Information and
Protection of Privacy Act and it is
mandatory; it’s a “shall” refuse to disclose
exemption under the Act.

An unsuccessful proponent trying to get
some internal advantage about the successful
proponent competition is unlikely to get
anything they were really looking for, such
as the secret sauce of the winning proponent,
so to speak. There are also provisions in that
section about information that is submitted to
the government as part of lawful processes,
such as submitting tax returns or returns to
the Liquor and Cannabis Commission or
something that you wouldn’t be able to use
that information to gain sort of a competitive
advantage on behalf of your corporation.

I can support Mr. Seeley’s position that our
procurement office is very happy to do a
debriefing with any proponent who asks, and
there is a right in our instructions to
proponents and instructions to tenders for
that process. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you for those responses.
I’m going to recognize the clock right now
before | go to Mr. Sammurtok and we will
break for lunch, returning at 1:30. Thank
you.
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>>Committee recessed at 11:56 and
resumed at 13:29

Chairman: Thank you. | would like to call
the Committee meeting back to order. The
next name | had on my list for line of
questioning is Mr. Sammurtok. Go ahead,
please.

Mr. Sammurtok (interpretation): Thank
you, Mr. Chairman. (interpretation ends) My
line of questioning is for the commissioner.
Nunavut’s new Police Act was passed by the
previous Legislative Assembly and it
received assent on June 8, 2021. You
indicate on page 9 of your 2022-23 annual
report that your office has not yet been
consulted by the Department of Justice
concerning such issues as proposed
agreements between the Government of
Nunavut and independent investigative
bodies and other entities. As of today, has
this situation changed? Thank you, Mr.
Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you. Mr. Steele.

Mr. Steele: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. |
would like to begin my answer with a brief
bit of background in case there’s anybody in
the room who doesn’t know what the issue is
that the Member has just raised.

In June 2021 this House was considering a
bill, a new Police Act, to replace the existing
law dealing with the relations between the
Government of Nunavut and the RCMP. In
the course of the debate on that bill, the
government made promises to the House, to
the regular Members, about certain things
that would be done. That, | believe, is part of
what persuaded the regular Members at the
time to vote in favour of the bill. The law
was passed shortly after that debate in the
House.
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One of the promises, but only one of them,
concerned consultations with my office about
certain aspects of the new legislation
specifically. The Member for Igaluit-
Manirajak referred to this earlier this
morning specifically about whether the
investigation reports would be public
documents or not because currently they are
not public. An investigation into an incident
involving police is not public. That’s what
the promise was. Now, | believe, as an
officer of this House who reports to you, that
if a promise is made that involves me, | need
to let you know what is happening with that
promise. That’s the background.

As of today, there has still been no
consultation on the topic that was promised
on June 7, 2021. Now, | would like to add,
Mr. Chairman, that new Police Act is still not
in force. It is still not the law of Nunavut. It’s
sitting there waiting for the government,
probably specifically the Department of
Justice, to do certain things that need to be
done before it’s ready. When | say that
there’s been no consultation, | don’t want
anybody to take that as blame or criticism.
What it means is that underlying work has
not been done yet. I’m confident that the
promise will be kept, but I believe it’s my
duty to inform you, the Members, that it has
not yet been kept yet. Thank you, Mr.
Chairman.

Chairman: Mr. Sammurtok.

Mr. Sammurtok (interpretation): Thank
you, Mr. Chairman. (interpretation ends)
This is still going to the commissioner. The
Government of Nunavut’s response to the
November 2022 report of the Standing
Committee indicated that the Department of
Justice “had...discussions with the
Information and Privacy Commissioner in
April and September 2022 on the regulatory
process.” Can you describe what input you
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provided to the department? Thank you, Mr.
Chairman.

Chairman: Mr. Steele.

Mr. Steele: | need clarification. Was that
specifically about the Police Act? Thank you.

Chairman: Thank you. Yes, in the
Government of Nunavut’s response dated
May 2023 and Standing Committee
recommendation No. 7, in the government’s
response, it states that “the Information and
Privacy Commissioner made representations
on the Bill and the Department has had two
subsequent discussions with the
Commissioner, in April and September 2022,
on the regulatory process.” Mr. Steele.

Mr. Steele: Thank you for the clarification,
Mr. Chairman. Yes, I did have discussions
with the Department of Justice, although they
are now two years old and the other one is a
year and a half old. To be honest, | don’t
remember specifically what it was we talked
about. | remember in a general way, but |
don’t remember the details.

What | can tell you, Member, is yes, | had
discussions with the Department of Justice,
but not about the topic that was promised in
the House. Sometimes | worry that the
Department of Justice believes that if they
talked to me about something, it means they
kept the promise, but a specific promise was
made in the House and that specific promise
had not yet been kept. Thank you, Mr.
Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you for that clarification.
Mr. Sammurtok.

Mr. Sammurtok: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
This is for the commissioner again. What
specific recommendations do you have
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regarding the Police Act? Thank you, Mr.
Chairman.

Chairman: Mr. Steele.

Mr. Steele: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. When
the Police Act was being developed or, |
think, after it was tabled, | wrote a letter to
the Minister of Justice at the time with some
thoughts about how the new Police Act
related to the existing access and privacy
law.

In essence, Member, | was recommending to
the government that they be clear, that if
they’re going to have a law that sets up new
committees and a new method about how
police incidents are going to be investigated,
there should be clarity about whether those
reports will be public or not. | was
recommending to the government that they
specifically say in the law, “Yes, these
reports will be public” or “No, these reports
will not be public.” Now, that did not happen
and so it remains to be decided whether the
reports under the new Police Act will be
public or not.

For example, let’s suppose that there’s an
incident involving the police and somebody
is injured or dies as a result of that incident,
and there is an investigation of the incident.
Will that investigation report be something
that somebody can get under the access law?
If they apply for the report and say, “I would
like to see a copy of the report,” will they be
able to get it? It’s still not clear. It should be
clearer than it is.

The whole point, Member, of the
consultation taking that we’re talking about
here is that when the Government of
Nunavut enters into an agreement with
another body that will do the investigation, I
don’t think Mr. MacLean can clarify, if he
wants to, but | don’t think there’s an
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agreement yet with a body from outside
Nunavut that will do the investigations.

I would encourage the government, when
they enter into that agreement, to make sure
the agreement itself is clear that the
investigation report belongs to the
Government of Nunavut and does not belong
to the RCMP and does not belong to the
external body that has done the investigation.
Once we know that the document belongs to
the Government of Nunavut, then the access
law applies and we can decide according to
that law what can be released and when.

That is, in a nutshell, the advice that | have
given to the government and will continue to
give. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you. Mr. Sammurtok.

Mr. Sammurtok: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
This is to the Department of Justice.

Nunavut’s new Police Act was passed by the
previous Legislative Assembly and received
assent on June 8, 2021. The Information and
Privacy Commissioner indicates in his 2022-
23 annual report that his office has not yet
been consulted by the Department of Justice
concerning such issues as proposed
agreements between the Government of
Nunavut and independent investigative
bodies and other entities. When will this
consultation occur? Thank you, Mr.
Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you. Mr. MacLean.

Mr. MacLean: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Thank you, Member. | do not have a timeline
before me today on when that consultation
will occur, but the department intends to
follow through on its promise to the
commissioner as part of the upcoming work
that needs to be done to bring the Police Act
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into force. It is complicated in a sense
because our territorial police service is a
federal entity and there is federal legislation
that we have to make sure that ours aligns
with. | know it certainly is the practice in
other jurisdictions to have independent police
monitoring bodies to do some form of public
disclosure of their investigations. It is
something that our department is looking at.
Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you. Mr. Sammurtok.

Mr. Sammurtok: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
This is going back to the Department of
Justice. The Government of Nunavut’s
response to the November 2022 report of the
Standing Committee indicates that the
Department of Justice “continues to
undertake the regulatory work necessary
work to bring the Police Act into force and
the necessary negotiations to identify a
civilian investigation partner to undertake the
review of serious incidents in Nunavut.”
With which independent investigative bodies
has the department been negotiating? Thank
you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you. Mr. MacLean.

Mr. MacLean: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. |
can’t speak to specific negotiations. It’s not a
portfolio with which | am familiar, but |
confirm that we are looking at working with
other provinces with independent regimes.
Alberta is a potential partner there and
because they also use the RCMP as their
provincial police service, so they have been
to the same show before on how to interact
with a federal agency. Organizations such as
that are certainly on our radar. Thank you,
Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Mr. Sammurtok.
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Mr. Sammurtok: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Department of Justice, has the department
entered into any information-sharing
agreements with the independent
investigative bodies and other entities?
Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Mr. MacLean.

Mr. MacLean: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Not at this time. Thank you.

Chairman: Thank you. Mr. Sammurtok.

Mr. Sammurtok: Department of Justice, as
of today, what is the government’s timetable
to bring the new Police Act into force and
publishing new regulations under the Act?
Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Mr. Suvega.

Mr. Suvega (interpretation): Thank you, Mr.

Chairman. (interpretation ends) Thank you,
Member, for that question. | was wondering
if I could, through you, Mr. Chairman, ask
Mr. Witzaney to respond to that. Thank you,
Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Please go ahead, Mr. Witzaney.

Mr. Witzaney (interpretation): Thank you,
Mr. Chairman. (interpretation ends) My
understanding of where the Department of
Justice is, is that they are currently working
on the regulations and also engaging with
various third party entities. That’s hard to
come to a timetable when there are factors
outside of our control. It will depend how
long it takes to enter into those agreements,
how complicated it becomes with the
negotiations, and then the basic sort of
process to pass regulations. There’s quite a
lot outstanding from my understanding and
so it would be difficult to provide a firm
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timeline on that. (interpretation) Thank you,
Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you. Before | go to my
next name, can | get a clarification on the
process? The regulations are in draft form
right now. Is the Government of Nunavut
anticipating waiting until those regulations
are complete before they move forward with
actual agreements with outside entities?
Maybe if somebody could nod their head on
who would be best to respond to that. Mr.
Witzaney.

Mr. Witzaney: Sorry. (interpretation) Thank
you, Mr. Chairman. (interpretation ends) My
apologies.

| actually worked as a policy analyst on the
Police Act, so | have some former knowledge
on this one. My understanding is that because
the regulations outline how the civilian
oversight mechanism works, and I think
there’s one other cultural advisor, | believe,
how they interact with the police force, it’s
required to have those regulations before we
can enter into an agreement because it’s
central to the powers that they will have and
how they have to interact with the public.
(interpretation) Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you for clarifying that.
The next name on my list: Ms. Quassa.

Ms. Quassa (interpretation): Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. (interpretation ends) My questions
are for the commissioner in regard to
information technology. You indicated on
page 9 of your 2022-23 annual report that
you have been “investigating another GN
network drive, known as the Y-drive” and
that you “plan to table my report in the
Legislative Assembly sometime in the new
[fiscal] year.” Can you describe the purpose
of the network Y-drive and can you clarify
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what specific concerns you have regarding its
use? (interpretation) Thank you, Mr.
Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you. Mr. Steele.

Mr. Steele: Mr. Chairman, the first thing |
would like to do is clarify one thing from the
sentence that the Member just read. This was
the first special report that | did and so when
| wrote this annual report, | anticipated that |
would be tabling it in the Legislative
Assembly. Later | changed my mind about
that and then I issued my report in the same
way that I issue all of my reports, rather than
tabling it here in the legislature, and so this
report did come out. It did come out in the
following fiscal year, if you know what |
mean, which is why it’s not specifically
covered in this report. It is a public document
and received lots of publicity. In fact, we
received a response. As I recall, it was from
the Premier as Minister of Executive and
Intergovernmental Affairs on behalf of the
entire GN. | just wanted to clarify that. My
report says that | would be tabling it in the
Legislative Assembly; | published it in a
different manner.

With that detail out of the way, the
Government of Nunavut holds an enormous
amount of information. The amount of
information that the Government of Nunavut
holds is just astonishing, and a lot of that
information is kept in places that are called,
using the technical English word, a drive. It
is a network drive, but it’s like a giant
warehouse, a warehouse where all the
information is stored, and then when an
employee of the Government of Nunavut
needs to retrieve that information, they go
onto their computer, they go to the place in
the warehouse where that document is held,
and then they can look at it, change it, save it
again, and all that kind of thing. That kind of
thing is happening thousands and thousands
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of times every day across the Government of
Nunavut.

Okay, so the fundamental issue that |
identified with this warehouse, again using
the technical name, the Y-drive, and when |
say “Y” that is, for our television audience,
the English letter “Y” drive. It’s the Y-drive.
That’s the big one where people put most of
their information, but it’s like a warehouse
and Community and Government Services is
responsible for the warehouse, for making
sure that the warehouse exists, that it
functions the way that it’s supposed to
function. Really, after that, they say to the
departments, “What you do inside of
warehouse is up to you.” They supply the
warehouse, but then within the warehouse,
every department has got its own room and
what happens inside that room is up to the
department.

Let’s just say that different departments
approach the task differently. Some of them
were very tidy, orderly, and careful about
privacy; most were not. Why does that
matter? Well, it matters because a typical
Government of Nunavut employee could go
into their department’s Y-drive, they could
go into that room in the warehouse and see a
whole lot of information that they should not
have been able to see because, unless you’re
very careful, every document is open to
everybody. | don’t mean everybody out in
the world; 1 mean everybody inside the
department.

There are lots of people who could see very
private information that they didn’t need to
see to do their job. It might be about their
family, their neighbours, their friends, or
their co-workers and they didn’t need to see
it for their job, but because of the way the Y-
drive was put together, everybody could see
that information. That’s a privacy problem.
Why is it a privacy problem? Because one of
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the fundamental rules about privacy when
you’re in the Government of Nunavut is you
should only be able to see the information
you need to do your job. You should only be
able to see the information you need to do
your job. The problem that I identified on the
Y-drive was that far too many people could
see far too much information that had
nothing to do with their job.

Maybe I’ll stop there, Mr. Chairman. That’s
the problem. Perhaps we will have an
opportunity to talk about possible solutions
as well because | know that Community and
Government Services, no doubt, will have
something they would like to say, but that is
my explanation, Member, of what the
problem was that | identified. Thank you,
Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you. Just for the record,
the Committee Members do have copies of
the special report as well as the government’s
response, so we are aware of the content. Ms.
Quassa.

Ms. Quassa (interpretation): Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. (interpretation ends) Thank you
for your response, commissioner. Can you
describe the extent to which the government
has been acting on your concerns?
(interpretation) Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Mr. Steele.

Mr. Steele: Mr. Chairman, in my special
report, | made a number of recommendations
to the government. The most fundamental
recommendation was that the Y-drive needs
to be replaced. Because of its design, it is not
possible to fix the Y-drive to protect privacy
the way it needs to be protected. However, |
am not a technical computer expert. |
recognize that. It is not my role to be making
technical recommendations to the real
experts who are in Community and
Government Services about how to replace
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the system, what to replace it with, and how
quickly they need to move.

I have told them that “My overall
recommendation is you need a better system.
You need a better warehouse for the
information that protects privacy.” How,
when, and with what they do it, | have left up
to their best judgment, given budget
priorities and procurement and all those
things. I know this is a multi-year task, but I
think that they are probably, at the end of the
day, better placed than I am to give the
Member specific information about what is
happening as a result of the recommendation
that | made. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you. Ms. Quassa.

Ms. Quassa (interpretation): Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. (interpretation ends) Thank you
for your response. You indicated on pages 9
and 10 of your 2022-23 annual report that the
“QEC’s response to the January 2023 [cyber]
attack was a model of ATIPP compliance.”
Can you describe how your office was
involved in the response to the cyberattack?
(interpretation) Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you. Mr. Steele.

Mr. Steele: Mr. Chairman, the Members will
recall that this morning | said that under the
privacy law, there’s an obligation on the
Government of Nunavut to notify me right
away when there’s a serious privacy breach
or where there’s an incident which makes it
look like there’s a real danger of a privacy
breach.

What the Qullig Energy Corporation did was
they notified me right away. | can’t
remember if it was the same day. It was a
phone call from the president. | remember
that. They didn’t send me a letter in the mail;
he didn’t send me an email. He called me and
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said, “This has happened and we want you to
know.” First of all, that was great. It was like
right away. They’re not trying to keep it to
themselves. They’re not trying to hide
anything. They’re following the law which
says that you’ve got to tell the commissioner
because I’m an independent pair of eyes
watching what they’re doing. Over the next
few days and weeks, | stayed in touch with
them. They were very forthcoming, they
were very open, monitoring what they were
doing, because my main concern as the
privacy commissioner is, “Has personal
information been stolen?”

Now, Mr. Wells from Community and
Government Services went through the
government-wide ransomware attack
in...gosh, is it already 20197 Is it that long
ago now? For better or worse, the people at
Community and Government Services are
experts at how to respond to this kind of
attack because they had to deal with it
themselves.

When there’s a ransomware attack, there are
much larger issues to deal with, and Mr.
Wells can talk to you for days about that, I’'m
sure. My concern, though, and | think our
concern here today is the privacy aspect. Has
personal information belonging to the people
of Nunavut been stolen? | wanted to
emphasize that because I’m not their
technical advisor. I’m not the Qulliq Energy
Corporation’s technical advisor on this. It
was simply we were going back and forth on
“Has any information been stolen? How will
you know? When will you know? What are
you doing to try to find out?”

To cut a long story short, the answer at the
end of the day was that they have satisfied
themselves that no personal information was
stolen in the cyberattack, but what | want to
emphasize in answer to your question,
Member, is that right from the first day, there
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was a conversation between us. They were
reporting to me, | was checking on them,
asking questions, saying, “Here’s what |
would like to know,” this, this, this, and this.
The whole process worked, | would say,
exactly the way it’s supposed to so that
together we could make sure that the
personal information of Nunavummiut was
properly protected.

The last thing I’ll say, Mr. Chairman, is it is
the nature of these cyberattacks that you can
never be 100 percent sure that no personal
information was stolen, but we believe based
on all the information that we have received
so far, in fact, no personal information was
stolen. Although the cyberattack was
unfortunate, that part of it turned out
satisfactorily. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Chairman: Thank you. Ms. Quassa.

Ms. Quassa (interpretation): Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. I also thank you, commissioner,
for that clarification once again.
(interpretation ends) You have indicated that
your office is largely “paperless.” Can you
describe how your own office approaches the
protection of personal information that you
receive from individuals and organizations?
(interpretation) Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Mr. Steele.

Mr. Steele: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Nobody has ever asked me that question
before. I’ll have to think about that for a
second.

Let’s start with the word “paperless.” That
means if somebody broke into my office,
there’s nothing to steal. Well, | mean they
could steal my chair and my computer, but |
have no filing cabinets. | have no files.
There’s no paper. There’s nothing that
somebody could walk away with because
everything that I do is online. If somebody
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sends me a piece of paper, I will scan it so
that it is in the computer system and then |
will shred it. There is no paper lying around
my office.

That means, of course, that | am reliant on
the people who run my computer system for
the basic protection. And who is it that runs
my computer system? It is the Office of the
Legislative Assembly. | am reliant on the
same people that you MLAs rely on to keep
your information safe and secure. | will say
again, Mr. Chairman, | am not a technical
person. If you said to me or asked me what
exactly is it that we do here at the Office of
the Legislative Assembly, I’m not the right
person to ask that question to, but I will leave
it at this: my protection is the same as your
protection because our computer security is
run by the same people. Thank you, Mr.
Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you. Ms. Quassa.

Ms. Quassa (interpretation): Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. I also thank you for that response.
(interpretation ends) My next questions are
for the Department of Community and
Government Services.

The Information and Privacy Commissioner
indicates on page 9 of his 2022-23 annual
report that he has been undertaking an
investigation into the Government of
Nunavut’s network Y-drive. What specific
actions has the department taken to respond
to the Information and Privacy
Commissioner’s concerns? (interpretation)
Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you. Mr. Seeley.

Mr. Seeley: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. The
privacy commissioner’s report was some
time ago, along with these recommendations,
and the actions the department took were
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immediate as far as investigating what the
Issues were that were identified in the
preliminary report with the Y-drive.

As far as the actions that CGS has taken, it
included and I would like to give a minor
clarification on the discussion earlier that
while there is an immense amount of
information on the Y-drive and Government
of Nunavut employees do have access to it,
they are specific to each respective
community. There isn’t lateral access to the
Y-drives among communities. Staff in one
community can see their Y-drive, but they
wouldn’t be able to see Y-drive content, even
if it was the same department in another
community. It’s localized to each
community.

As far as the actions that we took, past tense,
it was an investigation of just the scope of
the issue and immediately following that, the
action plan included taking a look at the
permissions for the Y-drive, and what that
means is who has access to different folders
or sections of the Y-drive for viewing
purposes, as well as who has access and
permissions for creating new folders or
sections within that drive. Those permissions
were reviewed and adjusted more
appropriately so that viewing limits could be
put in place depending on departmental
folders in a particular community, in addition
to which staff needed to have viewing and
editing rights within each respective folder, a
big undertaking to be sure and that
undertaking needed to be informed by each
of the client departments, letting our team
know who it is that needed access to a
particular folder within their respective
community drive.

The second piece to that is the team reviewed
permissions based on transient workers or
staff who worked for multiple departments,
perhaps as casuals or as relief workers, to
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make sure that access to each respective
section of the drive was limited appropriately
to ensure that staff logging in from one
department in one week could access that
department’s files appropriately, but they
wouldn’t be able to access them the
following week if they switched to a new
position. That audit was a very time-
consuming and intensive process to make
sure that the accessibility of the files and the
controls and the editing responsibilities were
up to date and would continue to be updated
with new users coming online or old users
leaving the organization.

As far as the longer term recommendations
for the Y-drive and any other shared drive
access, a multiple access drive, our solution
is in the longer term stronger policy
development to inform how these shared
drives or warehouses are built and how the
initial access is actually issued in the first
place. That policy development is underway
in the changing landscape that it is
information management and technology, as
well as additional training resources for new
staff and existing staff on how they’re
managing these files stored electronically
within, in this case, the Y-drive.

Those are some of the steps that the team has
taken toward the eventual decommissioning
of this Y-drive, which has been done, |
should point out, with a very engaged
partnership from each respective department
because it is their files that are stored within
sections of the respective Y-drives. Thank
you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Before | go back to Ms. Quassa,
I would like to get clarification. Mr. Seeley,
you mentioned that there has been a lot of
work done. In the government’s response to
the commissioner on the decommissioning of
the Y-drive, it states that Community and
Government Services Information
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Management and Technology Division is in
the advanced stages of considering a cloud-
based solution that integrates with the
existing Microsoft 365 framework, and that
the government will ensure that the next
information management system
incorporates privacy by design, and can adapt
to evolving digital landscapes. Maybe if Mr.
Seeley could give an update to the
Committee on the progress of that work. Mr.
Seeley.

Mr. Seeley: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. Very
good question. The transition to cloud-based
technologies, for clarification, that is storing
things in servers that aren’t located
specifically within a community, this is the
piece | mentioned about policy development
to make sure that the new build and the new
file storage plan in cloud-based technologies
has a more robust structure in its construction
and that access permissions on who can
create folders and who can designate access
to folders is considered in the development
of it. To use the commissioner’s example or
comparison earlier, if we’re building a new
warehouse, we want to make sure we
understand who’s got the keys and who has
how much space allocated to them within the
warehouse and when and how they can
access it.

Our progress on that is focused right now on
the policy development level. Right now,
we’re looking at six associated standards that
will be incorporated within our records
information management policy. Our
responsibilities and the responsibilities of the
departments will be identified within that
policy when it is complete. That will, of
course, be accompanied with new training
initiatives and orientation materials for new
staff. We are in the final stages of developing
an online training resource that will be
mandatory for oncoming staff and how
they’re going to manage those files in the
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cloud-based solutions and what their
responsibilities are as staff for managing files
within that new storage mechanism. Thank
you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you. Again, before 1 go
back to Ms. Quassa, when we’re talking
about cloud-based solutions, | would like to
direct a question to the commissioner. When
we’re looking at cloud-based storage
solutions, they’re not always, as Mr. Seeley
mentioned, they’re not in Nunavut, but they
may not even be in Canada. | would just like
to get the commissioner’s perspective on the
viability of using cloud-based storage
potentially outside of the country. Mr. Steele.

Mr. Steele: Mr. Chairman, really, the only
aspect of that that | feel qualified to speak on
is how the law applies. It’s very common in
Nunavut that we have a contract with
somebody in a different jurisdiction. Once
the information is outside the jurisdiction,
Nunavut law does not apply. The Nunavut
access and privacy law does not apply to a
cloud-based server that is somewhere else,
somewhere in the world.

My focus is and has to remain on the
Government of Nunavut, and that is that if
something goes wrong, it is their
responsibility. They are accountable. If the
privacy of Nunavummiut is breached, under
the privacy law, we don’t chase the person
around the world; we go to the Government
of Nunavut saying, “How did this happen?
Why did it happen? What are you going to
do to make sure that it doesn’t happen
again?”

The only other thing I can mention, Mr.
Chairman, is that if the entity with which we
have a contract is somewhere else in Canada,
I will often alert the privacy commissioner in
that other jurisdiction, whether it’s the
federal privacy commissioner, if it’s a federal
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entity, or in the province or territory where
the contractor is located. Often, if there’s a
privacy breach involving the personal
information of Nunavummiut, other people
across the country are affected as well, and
so then we will go to the jurisdiction where
the contractor is located because then they
have much more authority to go in and see
what’s going on.

Essentially, let’s say that the privacy
commissioner of Ontario is investigating on
our behalf because, if there’s a problem with
that server, for example, it affects the people
of Ontario just as much as it affects the
people of Nunavut. Thank you, Mr.
Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you. My apologies, Ms.
Quassa; | thought that was a line of
questioning worth exploring. Ms. Quassa.

Ms. Quassa (interpretation): Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. That’s okay. (interpretation ends)
My question continues to CGS.

The Information and Privacy Commissioner
indicates on pages 9 and 10 of his 2022-23
annual report that his office was involved in
the response to the January 2023 cyberattack
on the Qullig Energy Corporation. What
lessons were learned from this experience?
This is my last one. (interpretation) Thank
you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you. Mr. Seeley.

Mr. Seeley: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Thank you, Member, for that question. As
the commissioner alluded to earlier,
Community and Government Services is in a
good position based on the experiences
learned on the GN-wide cyberattack a few
years back.
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As far as lessons learned on the Qulliq
Energy incident, we have learned and | think
the best case scenario as far as reporting the
incident immediately to the privacy
commissioner as well as, I guess, the next
steps on initiating the rebuild of a more
robust and secure network on behalf of the
corporation. As far as additional lessons
learned, it does point out the dependency that
all operations do have on electronic files and
access through emails to communicate with
staff in a decentralized government.

The memorandum of understanding
developed between Community and
Government Services and Qulliq Energy to
support the rebuild of the network for an
arm’s-length corporation took some doing,
but the rebuild is well underway with a far
more robust network over at Qulliq Energy
to support their corporate needs. The
remaining measures and steps include
finishing up fibre connectivity to Qullig
Energy assets not currently built into the
GN’s overall fibre network within
communities.

I’m going to turn it over to Mr. Wells to talk
a little bit about some of the other
developments, best practices, and lessons
learned in that transition, through you, Mr.
Chairman, if that’s alright. Thank you.

Chairman: Thank you, Mr. Seeley. Mr.
Wells.

Mr. Wells: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. On
my team we always focus on the technical
solutions first. Some of the biggest rules or
things that we learned from the cyberattack
that we encountered in 2019 were about the
importance of training not only within the
IMIT staff but training for all staff and that
starts with onboarding and the onboarding of
new staff or people who are taking on new
roles within their department. We have a
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brand-new onboarding program for IMIT
that’s being used across different
departments.

We also have released a new security
awareness program that has new modules
come out every couple of months,
maintaining all the security that is current
with the new information that we have. We
roll out a new module every couple of
months as well. Now with the access to low
Earth orbit satellite bandwidth, we’ve got
access to new, better and more improved
tools. Even though I just mentioned about
training for all staff, we do keep our IMIT
staff really up to date on new tools that we
are deploying ahead of time as well.

We have adopted what they call a zero-trust
policy, which means we don’t trust any
individuals or organizations that we deal with
or we connect our network to. We always
have to evaluate very clearly if we’re dealing
with another organization out there, that we
do a really in-depth review of what their
network looks like and what kind of impact it
would have on the Government of Nunavut’s
network as well.

We have learned a lot from our experience in
2019 and I think that, because of that
learning with the Qulliq Energy Corporation,
we brought a lot of the new lessons learned
knowledge to them as soon as they started to
rebuild. It took us a few years to learn that,
but we brought that knowledge with us to
that organization. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you. | know we have been
doing a pretty good job of avoiding
acronyms, but Information Management and
Information Technology is IMIT. No
problem, Mr. Wells. Mr. Lightstone.

Mr. Lightstone: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
My first question is going to be for the
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privacy commissioner in respect to the
protection of privacy aspect of the ATIPP
Act. That portion does set out that
government must do what it can to protect
the personal information that it contains, and
also that the government must notify the
commissioner upon any serious breaches, as
you previously indicated.

However, as was previously indicated by Mr.
MacLean, section 48 does allow for
exceptions where the government can share
personal information under certain
circumstances, public interest or safety of
individuals. My first question for the
commissioner: is the Government of
Nunavut required to notify you, the
commissioner, when it utilizes section 48 to
share personal information? Thank you, Mr.
Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you. Mr. Steele.

Mr. Steele: Mr. Chairman, the answer to the
question is no, they are not required to notify
me nor should they be because this is the
daily work of the Government of Nunavut,
and if they had to notify me every time that
they shared a piece of information with
another department in order to do their work,
| would be snowed under with hundreds of
thousands of notifications daily. Don’t get
me wrong; it would not be something that
would be necessary or appropriate that | be
notified.

What the law says is that | need to be notified
of a privacy breach, and it’s not every
privacy breach because some privacy
breaches are really minor and unimportant
and are quickly fixed. There’s a standard in
the law. The English word is “material.” I’ll
say it means something that is more than
minor significance. If it’s something that’s
reasonably important, then it has to be
reported to me. Then there’s another standard
and the words in the law are “real risk of
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significant harm,” and if that standard is met,
then the person involved, the person whose
personal information has been released, has
to be notified. That’s the way the legislation
works.

If you meet the first standard, you have to tell
me; if you meet the second standard, you
have to notify the person whose privacy was
breached. If that was a lot of people, like if a
lot of people’s information came out, like
thousands or tens of thousands of people all
at the same time, it would require public
notification. That’s the way the legislation
works. Other than that, departments do not
have to notify me of their routine sharing of
information in order to do the business of the
Government of Nunavut. (interpretation)
Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you. Mr. Lightstone.

Mr. Lightstone: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
My next question will be for Mr. MacLean
with regard to section 48. As | previously
commented, it’s my perception that this is
maybe underutilized. I’m just wondering if
you would be able to provide some
information and provide examples of when
this exemption would be utilized to share
personal information. That will be my first
question. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you. Mr. MacLean.

Mr. MacLean: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Thank you, Member, for the question. The
most common use of section 48 and the kinds
of disclosure is disclosure for compliance
with warrants and production orders from
law enforcement agencies and also from
regulatory bodies, such as the college of
nurses. If they are investigating a nurse for
professional misconduct, they have the
Nursing Professions Act that gives the
college all of the powers of a court to compel
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information. That is a disclosure that’s
authorized by law, so that is an authorized
disclosure under section 48.

Section 48(e), which | answered a question
for you this morning, relates to disclosure for
law enforcement for law enforcement
purposes, and that allows a warrantless
disclosure, so a disclosure without a warrant
authorized by the court, for a law
enforcement purpose which is an
investigation that could lead to a criminal
penalty or sanction. We follow a decision
from the Supreme Court of Canada called R.
v. Cole that recommended quite strongly to
bodies that are subject to the Canadian
Charter of Rights and Freedoms, such as the
Government of Nunavut, that we require
warrants before we disclose information that
would be potentially incriminating,
potentially because to preserve somebody’s
rights against unreasonable search and
seizure.

We generally require a warrant or production
order if a member of law enforcement comes
and it is most commonly to a health centre,
let’s be honest, but it does come to the GN in
general, looking for information about
individuals. In those situations, we will
typically advise to go get a warrant.
However, if our office is broken into or if we
have security camera footage of a
Government of Nunavut office building
being broken into, we will hand over that
footage to the RCMP. We have occasionally
found incriminating hard drives full of
incriminating information that we have
stored in our vault and the RCMP have
gotten a warrant to seize because there might
have been criminal charges against a very
specific person.

Finally, to talk about disclosures under
section 48(s), now this is where the public
interest in disclosure outweighs any potential
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breach of privacy, this is what every
information and privacy commissioner in
Canada would describe as the “break glass in
case of emergency” disclosure provision. It’s
the “It’s the right thing to do” section and
sometimes that is used to provide
information to a grieving family who just
wants some basic information about what
happened to the person that they loved.
Departments will provide that information to
the family to give them some; | hate the
word, but closure.

Also, sometimes we will disclose
information from one public body to another
to help somebody to potentially prevent a
suicide or to intervene on somebody who
needs assistance. That’s sort of an example
of where compassionate disclosure would be
used. Qujannamiik, Mr. Chairman, and |
apologize for speaking quickly; I’m from the
Maritimes.

Chairman: Thank you. Mr. Lightstone.

Mr. Lightstone: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Thank you, Mr. MacLean. | would like to
pose my next question to the commissioner
with regard to notification of privacy
breaches. In your annual report, you had
indicated that there was one instance that you
found out of a privacy breach through the
media. My next question is: are you satisfied
that you are now being notified when a
privacy breach occurs? Thank you, Mr.
Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you. Mr. Steele.

Mr. Steele: Mr. Chairman, I will just refresh
the Member’s recollection of that incident
that the Member referred to. That was fairly
early on in my time here. | had been here for
about a year or so, as | recall, and | was
reading the Nunatsiag News and I learned
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that there had been a cyberattack on a
contractor that held student information.

The Department of Education has a student
information system where it keeps track of
all the information about all students in
Nunavut. Mr. Chairman, related to your
earlier question, where is that information
actually held? It was held in computer
servers in Ontario because there’s nobody
who offered that service here. The attack was
not in Nunavut; the attack was on that private
company in Ontario.

The Department of Education system went
offline for, I think, a week or so and their
focus was on getting it back online so
teachers could write report cards. It was that
time of year, | remember. They were having
trouble writing their report cards because the
system was down, but it didn’t seem to have
occurred to the Department of Education at
the time that there was a bigger issue.

What if information about every school-aged
child in Nunavut had just been stolen? That
was a possibility at the time. It turned out not
to be true, which we should all be grateful
for, but it could have been. | had to read
about this in the newspaper and then call
them and say, “Why are you not reporting
this to me?” Again, to cut a long story short,
they didn’t realize that they had an obligation
to report that sort of thing to me. | think
they’re aware of it now but they weren’t at
the time.

Am | satisfied that all privacy breaches are
being reported to me? Absolutely, positively
not. No, | am not satisfied. How many
reports am | not getting? | have no way of
knowing. It’s one of those things where |
believe there’s more. | don’t understand why
I receive so few. If | compare myself to other
jurisdictions, there ought to be a lot more, but
I’m not getting them. I can’t point the finger
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at anybody in particular because they’re not
reporting them to me.

Now, | want to say that | believe the
Department of Health is reporting all of their
privacy breaches to me. Why do | believe
that? Because they know what they’re doing,
they have a lot of experience, and they take
privacy very seriously. It’s just the nature of
their work that they take it very seriously and
they have staff who, once they receive a
report, know what to do with it. They know
what the process is to investigate it, report on
it, and say, “Okay, what happened here?”

This is something that | mentioned the last
time | was here, Mr. Chairman. It seems a bit
strange. | get more reports from Health of
privacy breaches than any other department.
Does that mean they’re doing the worst? No.
I think it means they’re doing the best
because | believe that when they have a
privacy breach, it comes to me, as long as it
meets that standard that | talked about earlier,
but I do not believe that’s the case of other
departments. There are other departments
handling a great deal of personal information
that | hardly hear from and I’m thinking, “Is
that because there really are no privacy
breaches or is it just because they don’t know
how to handle them when they hear about
them?”

That’s the answer to your question. Can |
prove that there are privacy breach reports
that | don’t get? No, | can’t prove it, but |
absolutely believe it just based on what | see
across the territory and across the country.
Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you. Mr. Lightstone.

Mr. Lightstone: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
My next question will be for EIA. The
Privacy Breach Policy was last revised in
2019. I was wondering if you would be able
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to summarize the contents of that policy for
us and, more importantly, describe the
process and procedures that are triggered
once a privacy breach is identified. Thank
you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you. Mr. Witzaney.

Mr. Witzaney (interpretation): Thank you,
Mr. Chairman. (interpretation ends) We are
in luck that I was actually the lead on the
review of that policy back in 2019. It
essentially sets out how a privacy breach is
reported to our Department of Executive and
Intergovernmental Affairs. It sets out the
requirement or confirms the requirement to
notify the Information and Privacy
Commissioner.

We help with the determination of whether or
not a breach is material and help the ATIPP
coordinator for the various departments make
that determination. Really, it’s just a process
document, so who’s responsible for notifying
the Information and Privacy Commissioner,
who’s responsible for tracking and managing
privacy breaches, and those sorts of things.
(interpretation) Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you. Mr. Lightstone.

Mr. Lightstone: Thank you, Mr. Witzaney.
Again, my question will be for EIA. Are you
satisfied with the level of education amongst
deputy heads and senior management teams
on the contents and importance of this breach
of privacy policy? Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you. Mr. Suvega.

Mr. Suvega (interpretation): Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. (interpretation ends) Qujannamiik
to the Member for that question. I think, first
to the concerns around breaches, it continues
to be a concern for government generally.
We encourage staff to continue taking
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training. There are some new tools that have
recently been developed, some that | have
taken personally with the assistance of our
friends here at CGS online. Really great, by
the way. More specifically, I think, for
deputy heads, all of us, it is something that
we recently covered within this calendar year
and late last year as well, right as CGS was
beginning to roll out these new tools.

I hope that answers your question. Thank
you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you. Mr. Lightstone.

Mr. Lightstone: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Again, a question to EIA. The Privacy
Breach Policy is sunsetting in October 2024,
later this year. What specific changes to the
policy are actively being considered? Thank
you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you. Mr. Witzaney.

Mr. Witzaney (interpretation): Thank you,
Mr. Chairman. (interpretation ends) I can’t
speak too much about specific changes
because of cabinet confidence and the fact
that those haven’t gone before the
government yet. However, with the changes
to our office to add more staff and to be
taking on a more service-based approach, |
can anticipate that there will be changes to
the policy to authorize our staff to assist
departments with privacy breach reporting
and investigations. (interpretation) Thank
you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Mr. Lightstone.

Mr. Lightstone: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Thank you, Mr. Witzaney. | would like to
move on to my next line of questioning. As |
mentioned in my opening comments, in our
previous televised hearings, there was some
discussion regarding the relationship between
government signing non-disclosure
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agreements and the Access to Information
and Protection of Privacy Act. As the Access
to Information Act is designed to promote
transparency and accountability of
government, there’s some concern that if
non-disclosure agreements are overly broad
and prevent the disclosure of information that
should be in the public domain, again, is a
cause for concern.

My first question to the government; there
hasn’t been much discussion about the
process or the actual amount of non-
disclosure agreements that the Government
of Nunavut signs. | was wondering if we
could get a little bit of information about the
process itself for signing non-disclosure
agreements, who has the authority, does it go
up to the Minister? The Deputy Minister? Do
they all go through the Department of Justice
or are departments able to do it on their own?
More importantly, how often are these non-
disclosure agreements being signed in any
given year? | want to see some very general
information about non-disclosure
agreements. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you. Mr. MacLean.

Mr. MacLean: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Non-disclosure agreements are not common
in the Government of Nunavut. The most
common use for us is during commercial
negotiations when the government is
engaged in confidential business negotiations
for negotiated contracts, and the purpose of
those non-disclosure agreements basically
keeps the matters under discussion in the
room and keeps it from being published in
the media and disclosed before it’s ready to
be disclosed.

To answer your question about do non-

disclosure agreements come through the
Department of Justice, the answer is yes.
There is also a typical clause in our non-
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disclosure agreements that specifically states
any non-disclosure obligation that the
government commits to is obviously subject
to our compliance with the Access to
Information and Protection of Privacy Act,
but also with disclosures that are mandatory
in this House because Members enjoy
parliamentary privilege and you get to ask
our Ministers questions and they have to be
able to answer them, and also disclosure to
the Auditor General for certain financial
aspects.

That’s the most common use of non-
disclosure agreements in the Government of
Nunavut. They are typically signed at the
Deputy Minister level. Thank you, Mr.
Chairman.

Chairman: Mr. Lightstone.

Mr. Lightstone: Thank you very much for
elaborating on that. You indicated that they
are not common; they’re specific most often
for commercial negotiations. Would you be
able to indicate how many in a given year or
if there’s any, if there is more than one in any
given year?

Just to save time, when the Government of
Nunavut is before the courts and agrees to an
out-of-court settlement, is that a specific
instance? Would that also include a non-
disclosure agreement signed by the
government? Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Mr. MacLean.

Mr. MacLean: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
With respect to your first question, it’s about
one or two agreements a year. It depends on
how many negotiated contracts cabinet has
directed us to do. Those are usually of a short
duration, just for the length of the duration of
the negotiations.
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To get to your second part about out-of-court
settlements, sometimes confidentiality
agreements are part of those settlements. It is
usually protective of the personal
information of individuals and sometimes to
protect the specific details of a financial
settlement. As the privacy commissioner has
said before and we certainly agree, the dollar
value that the Government of Nunavut
spends is your business and it’s the public’s
business, and that is something that we
would disclose. It’s not something that would
be generally under the cloak of a
confidentiality undertaking in a settlement,
unless the court ordered something different.
Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Mr. Lightstone.

Mr. Lightstone: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Thank you again, Mr. MacLean. My question
again will be for the Department of Justice
with regard to the topic about court
settlements. | appreciate your stance in
agreeing with the commissioner’s previous
statements that these amounts of public funds
should be disclosed if and when appropriate.

My next line of questioning with regard to
out of court settlements is: how often is the
GN agreeing to pay sums through out-of-
court settlements and is there some sort of
ballpark figure in a given year that you can
provide us with? Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Mr. MacLean.

Mr. MacLean: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. |
do not have a specific or even an estimate to
hand. It is well known that most court
matters settle out of court and their
settlements are common, and there is quite
often a financial component to settlements,
sometimes in favour of the government and
sometimes not, and it could be once or twice
a year. We fortunately don’t get sued nearly
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as much as other governments, which is a
good thing, but we do try to settle litigation
to keep matters resolved efficiently. Thank
you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Mr. Lightstone.

Mr. Lightstone: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Thank you, Mr. MacLean. That’s very
positive to hear.

I would like to move on to my next topic and
it will be directed at EIA. As | mentioned in
my opening comments, | strongly believe
that the Access to Information and Protection
of Privacy Act needs to be amended to give
order-making powers to the privacy
commissioner.

I think the way that the current Act is written
and forcing the public to take the GN to court
if they truly wish to receive information that
the government refuses to provide is
unnecessarily withholding public information
from the public that is trying to seek it. Like |
also said, public access to government
information is crucial to our promoting good
governance and, more importantly,
safeguarding democracy and holding the
government accountable.

The Department of EIA’s business plan
indicates that one of its priorities in the 2025-
26 fiscal year is to conduct a review of the
Access to Information Act. | would like to
ask: what specific amendments to the
legislation are currently being considered?
Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you. Mr. Suvega.

Mr. Suvega (interpretation): Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. (interpretation ends) Thank you to
the Member for that question. We’re just in
the initial stages of being able to think about
that. It’s a little early to determine exactly
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what changes. We’re not ruling anything out.
For example, we’re not ruling out any
amendments and we will definitely involve
the commissioner in any consultations we
have on the future amendments and as part of
any review. | think, while there are several
areas that have been identified by the
commissioner and the Standing Committee,
we’re trying to also ensure that our
legislation is consistent with best practices
across other jurisdictions.

I don’t know if Mr. Witzaney had anything
he wanted to add to this, through you, Mr.
Chairman. (interpretation) Thank you.

Chairman: Thank you. Mr. Witzaney.

Mr. Witzaney (interpretation): Thank you,
Mr. Chairman. (interpretation ends) Order-
making power is a tricky piece of policy. I’m
reminded of news stories that came out in
Newfoundland and Labrador after they made
it mandatory to go to court if they wanted to
disagree with recommendations of the
information and privacy commissioner. What
they found is that a lot of access to
information and protection of privacy
coordinators were actually burning out. The
additional capacity put on them was causing
them to have to work late into the night and
they lost a lot of the balance of their family
life.

We want to make sure any changes we make
to legislation take into account capacity, and
it would be a shame to take these steps to
address capacity and increase it, to then put
more pressures on our staff. We are
definitely still committed to that review and
to making a thorough analysis of the
legislation, but part of that analysis will be to
make sure that we have the capacity to
implement whatever changes that we
identify. (interpretation) Thank you, Mr.
Chairman.
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Chairman: Thank you. Mr. Lightstone.

Mr. Lightstone: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Thank you, Mr. Suvega and Mr. Witzaney,
for those comments. In the commissioner’s
annual reports, he has indicated that the level
of ATIPP requests that goes to his desk has
been relatively constant over the years, and
the number of times that the GN disagrees
with recommendations on what to share is
relatively low, so | don’t foresee that being a
major issue causing burnout beyond the
current state of the workload that is before
the ATIPP workers.

| appreciate that Mr. Suvega said that the
ATIPP Act would be consistent with best
practices, and that leads me to my next
question to the privacy commissioner. In
your annual report, you recommended that
the ATIPP Act should be amended to provide
you, the privacy commissioner, with order-
making powers. You also indicated that
about half of Canadian jurisdictions already
have this power for their own privacy
commissioners. Would you be able to
provide an update today on the status of
which provinces and territories actually offer
this order-making power? Thank you, Mr.
Chairman.

Chairman: Mr. Steele.

Mr. Steele: Mr. Chairman, the last time |
was here, for some reason, | had in my head
exactly which jurisdiction it was that had
order-making power, and today I just can’t
think of that list off the top of my head. If the
Member were to look at the transcript or |
have the transcript on my computer, we
could find it very quickly. I can get that for
him.

What I will say, Member, is that it is more
than half of the jurisdictions in Canada. The
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jurisdiction that I think we look at the most
here in Nunavut is the Northwest Territories
because we consider them to be similar in
size and also dealing with northern realities.
They did this in 2021, so they have been
doing it without any problems that I’m aware
of.

The only update that | have since the last
time 1 was here is that the federal information
commissioner, that is, the one who deals with
the same access work for the federal
government, has recently been given order-
making powers. There is some debate about
whether the powers that she was given are
strong enough or maybe they are too weak to
make any difference, but nevertheless, the
federal information commissioner now has
the power, in addition to a majority of the
provinces and territories. Thank you, Mr.
Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you. Mr. Lightstone.

Mr. Lightstone: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
My next questions are for the Government of
Nunavut, and to save time, | would like to
roll these two questions into one.

To what extent will the Information and
Privacy Commissioner be consulted during
the review of the ATIPP Act? During our
previous televised hearing with the privacy
commissioner, he suggested that it be
amended to provide the commissioner with
order-making power and all public bodies to
appeal his orders to the court of justice. |
would like to ask: what is the Government of
Nunavut’s position regarding that specific
recommendation? Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you. Mr. Suvega.

Mr. Suvega (interpretation): Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. (interpretation ends) Qujannamiik
to the Member for that question. It’s a full
commitment to continue consulting with the
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commissioner and his office, even before this
hearing. | want to speak to the really great
meeting relationship that we already have
between Mr. Commissioner here and our
office.

For some of the further amendments that
you’re speaking to, | wonder if | could,
through you, Mr. Chairman, get Mr.
Witzaney to speak to those.

Chairman: Thank you. Mr. Witzaney.

Mr. Witzaney (interpretation): Thank you,
Mr. Chairman. (interpretation ends)
Unfortunately, we can’t commit to our
position on those amendments. It’s not
something that’s within our power to commit
to. It’s something that will have to be a fairly
lengthy discussion and we will get to our
position on that through the drafting process,
but we aren’t ruling out anything in our
review of the legislation. We want to make
sure that we have the best Access to
Information and Protection of Privacy Act
that we can. That is our goal and we will
make sure that we fully consult with the
Information and Privacy Commissioner and
other interested stakeholders. (interpretation)
Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you. Next name | have on
my list: Mr. Simailak.

Mr. Simailak (interpretation): Thank you,
Mr. Chairman. | have a question at this time
specifically to the official representing the
Department of Justice.

Earlier this morning, a question was raised
and responded to by the official representing
the government. | wish to request further
details specific to that response from the
department as it related to my colleague’s
guestion on missing and murdered
indigenous women and girls.
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Some of the provinces have enacted
legislation or even (interpretation ends) a
Missing Persons Act and (interpretation) |
believe the Northwest Territories has begun
preliminary work on it. As my colleague, Mr.
Lightstone, intoned, here in Nunavut, this
government has to start reviewing the legal
ramifications in order to start drafting a bill
on this matter. Mr. MacLean indicated in
English (interpretation ends) that there will
not be enough time in the life of this
government.

(interpretation) 1 would like to understand by
asking this follow-up query to the
Department of Justice’s official, Mr.
MacLean, if the department ought not to be
starting immediately on this legislation by
beginning the consultations with the
communities about whether they would like
to see such a piece of legislation drafted.
Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you. Mr. MacLean.

Mr. MacLean: Qujannamiik, Mr. Chairman.
The Department of Justice is monitoring
developments on missing persons laws in
other jurisdictions, including the recent
introduction of the Northwest Territories
missing persons bill, currently Bill 2-20. |
understand they are having hearings on that
at the moment.

The department does not have immediate
plans to propose similar plans for Nunavut.
However, we are continuing to examine this
issue, taking into account the unique context
of our territory; the nature of cases where
persons go missing in Nunavut, or
Nunavummiut who go missing in other
provinces and territories; the need to balance
police investigative powers with privacy and
the protection of personal information,
among other considerations.
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Since this morning, | was able to confer with
my colleagues at the Department of Justice
and I can confirm that we are not in a
position to introduce legislation during the
remaining life of this government, but it is
something that we continue to take on and
will commit to studying. Qujannamiik, Mr.
Chairman.

Chairman: Mr. Simailak.

Mr. Simailak (interpretation): Thank you,
Mr. Chairman. | also appreciate the response
from Mr. MacLean for providing that level of
details, and | am thankful the department will
keep an eye on this issue, although | believe
in its essential status, and we often hear
either on the Internet or via our cellphones
that Nunavut residents living in the south
have gone missing, either in Ottawa,
Edmonton, or Winnipeg, and they disappear
in these gateway cities, these previous
residents of Nunavut. It is becoming more
apparent via the Internet and social media
platforms that it is becoming an issue, which
is why | brought it up, but I wish to turn to
another subject with another question, Mr.
Chairman.

(interpretation ends) Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. My next question is for the
privacy commissioner and it’s regarding
prosecutions under section 59 of the Access
to Information and Protection of Privacy Act.
You indicate on pages 10 and 11 of your
2022-23 annual report that you have
concerns regarding section 59 of the Access
to Information and Protection of Privacy Act,
which allows for prosecutions of deliberate
breaches of privacy and other offences. Can
you describe the circumstances of this
incident that you have investigated? Thank
you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you. Mr. Steele.
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Mr. Steele: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. | of
course have the specific incidents to which
the member referred is summarized on page
13 of my annual report for 2022-2023.
Member, | think we’re all aware that the
Department of Health maintains a patient
information system so that if anybody
receives any kind of medical care,
information is entered into this digital
database. The name of that database is
MEDITECH. Now, that’s a private company,
so that’s their trade name. Every jurisdiction
has a system. Some use MEDITECH; most
use other systems, but I’m going use that
word and | want you to know, MEDITECH,
medical technology. MEDITECH. That is a
trade name, so there’s no other way for me to
say that.

What happened was there were two health
workers who had, there was an incident at
work. I’ll just describe it as an incident.
Following the incident one of those workers
who in my report -- this is a public report, so
I can say this -- a medical doctor started
looking in MEDITECH at the personal
medical information of the person that they
had had the dispute with at work, another
worker in the health care system.

Now, this doctor had no reason to look at that
person’s information. They were not that
person’s doctor. They had no involvement of
any kind in that person’s care. But they
started looking into the information of this
person that they had had an incident with.

Now, it’s only because the victim of this
situation was also a health care worker, knew
very well how MEDITECH worked and
knew what to ask for, so she applied for
information from MEDITECH that would
tell -- it would tell who looked at their
information. And so they were able to verify
with a MEDITECH audit that this doctor had
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looked at their information, when they
looked at it, how often they looked at it, what
they did when they were looking at it. These
are all the things that the system can show
you when you ask it to. But it was only
because the victim was a health care worker
that they knew to go in, knew what to ask
for, and when they received the reports back,
understood what it was that they were telling
them.

Now, when confronted with this information,
the doctor admitted that they had done this,
so that was never an issue. It was yes, they
did it. Now, they tried to excuse themselves
of course, but | said that the excuse was not
believable. We’ll leave it at that.

So you’ve got somebody who has interfered
with another person’s privacy in the most
serious way. No excuse, no reason. They
abused their access to the MEDITECH
system.

There are employment consequences, which
are not my business. That’s the Department
of Health. We don’t need to get into that. |
don’t think that’s necessarily relevant. There
are human resources issues flowing from
that, obviously.

But the question that comes up in this case,
Member, and the one that you’re asking
about, I think, is okay, can we do more?
When somebody has so deliberately and
offensively breached privacy, aren’t they
breaking the law? Can’t you fine them? Can’t
you punish them in some other way? And
this was in my time in Nunavut easily the
worst privacy breach that | had seen, so |
looked into the question of whether that
person could be prosecuted under the privacy
law.

You referred, Member, to section 59. That is
the section that says if you breach
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somebody’s privacy, you can be fined up to
$5,000. That’s what it says. But | learned that
really, it’s impossible to prosecute somebody
here in Nunavut, and there are a couple of
reasons for that. First of all, there is nobody
to investigate. Now, when somebody breaks
a law in the Criminal Code, the RCMP
investigates. They lay the charges and Public
Prosecution Service prosecutes. That’s easy.
But when somebody has broken a territorial
law, not a criminal law but a law passed by
this legislature, it’s not always so obvious
who it is who’s going to investigate it.

Now, there’s an agreement between the
Government of Nunavut and the RCMP that
Mr. MacLean can speak to about what
exactly their job is here in Nunavut, what
exactly have we hired them to do. It’s not
clear to the RCMP that this kind of breach
would be something that they had been
contracted to investigate, all right. There’s
only one police force in Nunavut. If they’re
not going to investigate it, who’s going to
investigate?

Even if we could find somebody to
investigate it, the Public Prosecution Service
-- I’m pointing that way because | know their
office is just down the road over there -- the
Public Prosecution Service of Canada says,
now, that’s not really our role to prosecute
those kinds of offences.

Territorial offences are -- there are many
nuances to this, but are generally prosecuted
by the Government of Nunavut itself. But
you run into an immediate problem: the
privacy law applies only to the Government
of Nunavut. It’s almost always going to be
somebody associated with the government
who has broken the law. You can’t have the
government prosecuting the government. It
just doesn’t work.
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When you put all these pieces together, you
have a very serious and deliberate privacy
breach which the perpetrator admitted, so it
wasn’t going to be a difficult case to prove,
but nobody to investigate, nobody to
prosecute, plus the fact what else happens,
Member, when somebody does something
they really, really, really shouldn’t do? They
leave Nunavut, right. Again, they’re not even
in the jurisdiction anymore.

For all of these reasons, plus if you go
through all of the hoops and manage to
prosecute somebody, the maximum fine is
$5,000. You could easily spend a $100,000,
$200,000 on a prosecution, all for a
maximum fine of $5,000.

At the end of the day, section 59 is what |
would call an empty threat. It looks like
there’s a punishment available, but in reality,
there is not. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Chairman: Mr. Simailak.

Mr. Simailak: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Thank you, commissioner. Staying with the
commissioner, commissioner, you indicate
on page 11 of your 2022-23 annual report
that you have brought this issue “to the
attention of the Legislative Assembly
because a legislative process may be
required.” What specific amendments to the
Access to Information and Protection of
Privacy Act do you recommend? Thank you,
Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Mr. Steele.

Mr. Steele: The main thing that has to
happen, Member, is that it has to be clear
who will investigate and who will prosecute.
Now, that may or may not be something
that’s set in legislation. But for example, in
the agreement between the Government of
Nunavut and the RCMP, | think there needs
to be more clarity than there currently is
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about who will investigate territorial
offences. If it’s not the RCMP, then who is
it? And there needs to be similar clarity about
prosecution. Now, again, these may or may
not be things that you would write into the
law. | think Mr. MacLean is in a better
position than | am to talk about what exactly
would have to happen.

The other issue that is a legislative matter is
the small size of the fine. It doesn’t matter
how bad the thing is that somebody has done,
the absolute maximum fine is $5,000. | don’t
believe that that number has changed since
this law first came into force in the
Northwest Territories almost 30 years ago. |
don’t believe that number has changed. The
number is so small now that it’s not really a
deterrent to anybody. So that is something
else that could be in the law.

Those are the things we need to talk about:
the size of the fine, who is going to
investigate, who’s going to prosecute. Not
necessarily all of that requires a change to the
law itself. (interpretation) Thank you, Mr.
Chairman.

Chairman: Before | go back to Mr.
Simailak, | am going to recognize the clock
and we will take a 15-minute break.

>>Committee recessed at 15:07 and
resumed at 15:27

Chairman: | would like to call us back to
work and call Mr. Simailak’s line of
questioning. Please continue, Mr. Simailak.

Mr. Simailak: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Welcome back. My next question is for the
Department of Justice.

Mr. Chairman, the department in its former
response to the Information and Privacy
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Commissioner’s report, the government
indicated that it “did not refer this matter for
prosecution as it was uncovered well after the
expiry of the six-month limitation period for
the prosecution of territorial offences as
specified in section 3 of the Summary
Conviction Procedures Act. In light of the
challenges posed by the six-month limitation,
the Government of Nunavut would be open
to discussing with the Commissioner the
possibility of a limitation period or an
administrative penalty regime to offences
under the Access to Information and
Protection of Privacy Act.” As of today, what
is the status of these discussions? Thank you,
Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you, Mr. Simailak. Mr.
MacLean.

Mr. MacLean: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Thank you to the Member for the question.
The limitation period remain is a barrier to a
prosecution under the Access to Information
and Protection of Privacy Act, and the
standard limitation period for summary
convictions, which is any conviction under a
territorial act, is six months, unless another
act extends the limitation period. So an
amendment to the Access to Information and
Protection and Privacy Act extending or
designating a limitation period as something
other than six months would assist the ability
to prosecute a territorial offence. For
example, some of the other provinces and
territories, the limitation period is two years.
That is consistent with our Environmental
Protection Act because sometimes we do not
discover pollution and spills until -- we don’t
discover it right away. Same thing with
privacy breaches. They don’t get discovered
right away and before you know it seven
months have passed and we’re out of time.

A longer limitation period is something that
Justice will be recommending to Executive
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and Intergovernmental Affairs for potential
amendments to the Access to Information
and Protection of Privacy Act.

With respect to an administrative monetary
penalties scheme, that will require additional
work and additional discussion, and just so
everyone understands what an administrative
monetary penalty is, | know we don’t like
acronyms, but the one people say publicly
there, it’s AMPS, but I’ll say administrative
monetary penalty because that makes more
sense.

The administrative monetary penalty regime
is usually tied to a licence. It is usually tied
to regulatory scheme, and rather than a
criminal proceeding in court or a summary
offence ticket, the administrator of that
regulatory regime issues a fixed penalty,
issues a fine. And if you don’t pay that
penalty the fine keeps -- the penalty keeps
going up until you pay it. And it’s not a
judicial proceeding, it’s an administrative
process.

No other Canadian province or territory does
this with access to information and protection
of privacy, so if we did it we would be first,
which is not necessarily a bad thing, but it
means we have no one to compare ourselves
to, so this would require additional search
and additional thought. And we will certainly
be inviting the Information and Privacy
Commissioner to share his thoughts as
legislation development and policy
development works continue on that.
Qujannamiik, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you. Mr. Simailak.

Mr. Simailak: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Thank you, Mr. MacLean. For clarity when
it’s uncovered, the offence, is that six months
from when it occurred or from when it’s
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found out? Just for clarity, which is it? Thank
you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you. If | understand it’s
from when the incident occurred. Mr.
Simailak.

Mr. Simailak: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. |
think my last question is again for the
Department of Justice. What is the
government’s timetable for introducing a bill
to address the issue? | know he mentioned
he’s looking at discussing with Executive
and Intergovernmental Affairs, but what was
the timetable? Is it going to be with this
government? Is the work going to start?
What’s the plan here? Thank you, Mr.
Chairman.

Chairman: I’ll ask you just to clarify, Mr.
Simailak: is that just related to the length of
the reporting time or does that also include
the penalty review? Mr. Simailak.

Mr. Simailak: The review. Thank you, Mr.
Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you. Mr. MacLean.

Mr. MacLean: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
The Access to Information and Protection of
Privacy Act, the ministerial responsibility
rests with the minister of Executive and
Intergovernmental Affairs. That department
will be driving the legislative amendment
process. | would request, through you Mr.
Chairman, if I could refer this question to
Mr. Witzaney.

Chairman: Thank you. | thought we would
end up there anyway. Mr. Witzaney.

Mr. Witzaney (interpretation): Thank you,
Mr. Chairman. (interpretation ends) We are
still committed to that 2025 review. If there
are other opportunities, we can’t necessarily
speak to that at this point, but it will be taken
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under advisement. It’s a good suggestion and
a possible avenue that we will explore.
(interpretation) Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you it might be worth
noting in the government’s response to the
committee of a timeline for an amendment. It
sounds like that’s quite an easy amendment
to process through, so I’ll leave it as a
recommendation. | do understand that, before
I go to the next name on my list, Mr. Suvega
had some information on an earlier question
that he would like to address. Mr. Suvega.

Mr. Suvega (interpretation): Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. (interpretation ends) Earlier |
believe Member Brewster asked a question
about, was a vacant position that was
advertised, did the department request staff
housing with it. At the time I can confirm,
no, they did not. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you, Mr. Suvega. The
next name on my list is Ms. Brewster. Ms.
Brewster.

Ms. Brewster: Thank you, Mr. Chairman,
and thank you, Mr. Suvega, for that
clarification. I have a number of follow-up
questions, and I guess I’ll start with the
current subject. What we know related to that
specific privacy breach is that it involved a
health care professional. | have been looking
through to try to figure out how the Access to
Information and Protection of Privacy Act as
well as the Summary Conviction Procedures
Act can refer to another licensing body or
another body. What we know is that
especially medical professionals, they have
specific licencing bodies that hold them
accountable, so if first, the commissioner
could, or Mr. Steele could respond to how
that could be connected, if it’s not actually
within either one of the acts. Thank you, Mr.
Chairman.
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Chairman: Thank you. Mr. Steele.

Mr. Steele: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Thank you, Member, for the question. In my
earlier answer | talked about two
consequences of this data intrusion, that is,
looking at somebody’s health information
that you have no business looking at. | talked
about employment consequences, which is in
the hands of the Department of Health, if
we’re talking about intrusions into
MEDITECH. They consult, of course, with
the Department of Human Resources.
There’s also the fine under the act.

But then there’s the third one that you have
raised, thank you for raising it, and that is a
professional discipline complaint. The
Department of Health would see more of this
than | do, but I can say that in every single
case that I’ve seen of intrusion into
MEDITECH somebody has filed a
professional disciplinary complaint with the
appropriate medical body.

Now, who exactly is it who complains?
Sometimes it’s the victim. Sometimes it’s
staff in the Department of Health. It really
can be anybody. So the person who
complains changes, but somebody who is
guilty of data intrusion I think can rely on
virtual certainty that somebody will file a
complaint with a professional body, because
this is considered to be a very serious
violation of professional ethics. And so |
would say the Department of Health believes
it’s their responsibility to bring these kind of
violations to the attention of the appropriate
body.

Member, | don’t think anything additional
would need to be said in the law because
frankly, it is already happening. Thank you,
Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you. Ms. Brewster.
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Ms. Brewster: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Thank you, Mr. Steele. Would it be okay to
ask the Department of Health for
reassurances that that is actually occurring, as
it does relate to protection of privacy and
information? Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: That public document and public
occurrence, Ms. Hunt, I’m sure you don’t
want to get into too much specifics and
maybe you would want to avoid any mention
of any disciplinary process that might have
been taken in this instance, but I’ll leave that
up to your professional opinion. Ms. Hunt.

Ms. Hunt (interpretation): Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. (interpretation ends) Qujannamiik
to the Member. Maybe I’ll maybe it more
general but more around process. If we have
a regulated health professional who breaches
the privacy of an individual, whether that is a
patient, whether that is a peer, we have a
responsibility when that information comes
to our attention to not only report it to our
reporting processes with the commissioner,
but it also then is reported to that regulatory
body in which that individual is licensed
through. There are a couple of different
mechanisms. | really see them as safety
mechanisms, to make sure that information is
abided, that there are different levels of
investigation, outcome, and then there may
be consequences for that individual, whether
it’s through their employment or their
contract with their employer, or the entity in
which they are contracted, or whether that
potentially is actioned through the body in
which they are regulated or licensed through.
(interpretation) Thank you.

Chairman: Thank you. Ms. Brewster.
Ms. Brewster: Thank you for that response.

Thank you, Mr. Chairman. | would like to go
back to the issue of reporting. What | hear
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from Commissioner Steele is that he doesn’t
feel reassured that he’s receiving reports
from departments other than Health, that they
have their structure in place, that ensures that
there is that kind of scrutiny and reporting on
privacy breaches. And so I’m wondering
whether or not there’s a consideration for
revision of the act or whether or not -- and |
did look through it, and I didn’t see anything
in there that states for anybody other than the
information and privacy commissioner to
provide annual reports.

So my question I guess is whether or not
there is actual in fact a tracking system
within the Government of Nunavut, so they
are tracking all of their breaches annually so
that they can obviously use that data to figure
out where areas of change need to happen
and additional training. Thank you, Mr.
Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you. Mr. Steele.

Mr. Steele: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. |
would like to talk about another incident.
Now, Mr. Chairman this is an incident that
occurred after this annual report that we’re
considering, so | hope it’s all right, with your
permission, if | speak to an incident that not
strictly speaking covered by this report.

Chairman: I will allow it. I would ask that
you keep to fairly general because it’s
obviously the detailed information from the
report wouldn’t be in front of the Committee
yet. So Mr. Steele, please proceed.

Mr. Steele: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. The
typical incident that | worry about is like one
that occurred recently in a school in a
Nunavut community, where there was a
privacy breach. The privacy breach was
brought to the principal’s attention, but the
principal didn’t take it any further because,
from what I’m given to understand, the
principal did not realize that they were

A, CL*a AbA<DIPALE  ANCSA<Hao,
ALLAKDE A o™ of B>NSHNC,

SHD>ALY*L bLMYSbSe/LGL <o D oS
Lo <ANLbT*oPLIATQ DL IC>PPbos
AAPINT® A CALASKEC<LLS, <L
deo<dsbSa NI nrbdC Sb>ALE NP
ACSbASbSo*La® --AD®Ir®

> NCNSHECSEC AMlo® Ao*c® o0a D¢

Y Co¢ 4ea<dioc<d®Do, Sb>MLLIJ“c
Sb>AN®DHEN DI 0a P DPYS>NCSHED®
CANCSTSIC <AHLs Ac NS @ sa ASYc NP
ADOAC Qo G*a<eDcnosIc DPYNP<IPN e
N> YL o<SLC.

Pldoc, <>cJ*a*MaNd A>“cNNLALCC
0a.2¢ Y Cot <L PLLALST* e
AcPo<5oNd bPpNSa I AcndsC,

Jro <O <<LEb HPING, AL®a Sabe>C Ll
Acn<5b®eIN® L AcnSbCP><*a °DNe
SoD>ANbCP>oONP CALAJLKC. CALC
SH>MILLO®IL CLbdd Gope L+ C CRo
AMNGTSIC *PbNNJCDYad PpfeNeD ot
Jeo D nAD>LOC P> SeNSheCeCDC CLbd<
b*Ja ®IdN*Nc \>NYD>YLCNLSdHNe, <o
At CLbdd SbP>rNSaP>NC

DS S CPo <MLL, Sdyeal™, Ab/RUDCSe,

Ab/RPCSe (OLANJC): Sdh®al®. DN,

qedne OLNNNUO): Sdbal™. A, ACDPse
Dsb>/ALLCS, DbDYPRc<IN® ba Cll
Lea D, AYRPCS®, bNCHo*NC <L
> So™NC IB<CDC A NN <SLE
DR G GEa<dhc<I®ING <> SheCeDC
So>AJ%QSo<SLC <L AccPrroNe NNsbo®
bLPY>abde, DR PbH®<C DR H*G ¢
DAT<AYT DRRHEGC JCOC PR _HgC
ACLECe, <Ll DNSeNSHNE NNGSe/LLC
Sp>aNeC>a-dAS, CALc CLbd<l DPYP<PNDC
>N®NJ*Q ®CDC oI nosic
DP/P<IPNOC Clo Sb>NN®C>E*Q D¢,

Ac CL%a bLPYDLLE AP*Meo ba Cl
SHD>ANSLC. <M AC Sb>ANSeAC ACN<IASbSasIC
bNLAC AbA<SbSa<5eDe, jea<Ihc<Ie/L{<-
QO ADPCHILIC DP/PIPNC <+ eCHL<<LC
A0 1€, CALALLE DPSbe*Pc s A 5J

126



supposed to report it to the privacy
coordinator within the Department of
Education, and then of course, the privacy
person within the Department of Education,
they do some quick analysis on it and if it
was serious enough they would report it to
me. That’s the way the system is supposed to
work.

What actually happened in this case is that |
got a letter from a certain company down
south saying oh, there’s been this privacy
breach in a school in Nunavut. And the funny
thing is that they didn’t have any obligation
to report to me. They do in some provinces,
but not in Nunavut. | have no jurisdiction
over the private sector, so a private company
has no obligation to report anything to me,
but they did. What happens is, they send a
letter out to basically all the commissioners
across the country, whether they have to or
not. That’s typically what happens. | said to
the Department of Education, what’s going
on here? Why do | not know about this
already? Anyway, long story short, the
fundamental issue there was simply the
principal didn’t realize that there is an
obligation to report, therefore it didn’t work
its way through the system.

Member, you talk about possible change to
the law or annual reports. None of that works
if the front-line people don’t realize that
when they hear about a privacy breach
there’s something they have to do with it.
They can’t keep it to themselves. And that’s
a bit of training, a bit of experience. You
know, a lot of people, frankly, Member, if
they’re the one who has accidentally
breached somebody’s privacy, they are
afraid. They are afraid to report it because
they think there might be consequences.
They might get disciplined. They might lose
their job.
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The important thing, in my opinion, is to
develop a culture where everybody
understands how important privacy is, and
that everybody’s objective is to improve the
system to reduce the number of privacy
breaches.

I’ll use the same analogy | used the last time
I was here. One of the best safety systems
that we know of is in the airline industry, and
that is because there’s a culture of self-
reporting, because they know that if
something happens and they report it, there is
going to be no consequences. Everybody
says thank you very much; what can we learn
from this so that that kind of incident doesn’t
happen again? It makes the airline industry
one of the safest modes of transportation in
the world, because of that culture.

That is, | think, what we’re aiming for in
privacy where people are not afraid to report,
they’re glad to report so that everybody can
learn from whatever mistake they had made.
That really is the answer, | think, Member
rather than changing this law or that law. It’s
creating that culture that is the answer. Thank
you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you. Ms. Brewster.

Ms. Brewster: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Thank you for that response. This is to |
suppose the Executive and Intergovernmental
Affairs. | have here stronger policy
development is one of things somebody said
in a response, and that Privacy Breach
Policy, I can tell you as an employee
receiving a phone call from our Health
ATIPP coordinator saying, Janet, did you
mean to save this on the Y-drive at the end of
a day, would really remind me to remind my
team of the importance of not saving
documents on the Y-drive if you don’t have
to. A lot of that, and | would be embarrassed,
but | would share it because it’s a learning.
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That would often happen with I guess orphan
documents that aren’t saved into a specific
folder, where an employee might not have
access to specific folders so they choose to
share or save something really quickly so
that they can print it off or for whatever
reason. And so the questions | have are
around you know whether or not that Privacy
Breach Policy includes things as important as
doing daily audits on, having employees who
specifically go in and check the Y-drive
every day for those, you know, small actions
that could turn out to be really huge if the
document contains a significant amount of
personal information.

Do those policies include that, so that there’s
that extra level of daily action and
protection? Does that policy include the issue
that | raised just now about reporting
regularly, whether or not a team might
consider something reportable to the privacy
commissioner? and we talked about sort of
the levels of concern. Is there a tracking
mechanism so that internal audits can happen
where managers and directors and up to DMs
can look at what’s going on in their teams
that might be a cause for concern and an
impetus for additional training? Thank you,
Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you. Mr. Witzaney.

Mr. Witzaney (interpretation): Thank you,
Mr. Chairman. (interpretation ends) The
Privacy Breach Policy is pretty simple. It
talks more about reporting to the territorial
access to information and protection of
privacy office, and we do keep some
statistics and we keep track of all of the
breaches that are occurring, regardless of
whether or not they meet that standard for
material breach. In trainings that | do with
the employee orientation program and with
ATIPP coordinators -- sorry, access to

129



information and protection of privacy
coordinators, | really stress that all privacy
breaches, no matter how big or small, should
be reported to my office.

One of the big reasons for that is when we
are looking at whether or not a breach is
material, one big criteria that we are looking
for is whether or not the breach is a symptom
of a systemic issue, and you can’t really
know that unless you had adequate tracking,
and you’re looking at breaches more
regularly.

These are great suggestions that you have,
and when we are looking at the policy, things
that | keep in mind to better look at privacy
and reporting publicly on how we’re doing
with privacy, and how we’re doing with
access and information, there are things |
want to look at improving for our
department. So those are all good
suggestions. (interpretation) Thank you, Mr.
Chairman.

Chairman: Ms. Brewster.

Ms. Brewster: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. |
would like to add another issue of concern
and that is the issue, we heard about
permissions for certain folders and certain
access, and what we know is that often,
especially if there are casual employees, that
sometimes closing the loop on their
employment doesn’t always happen when it
comes to permissions. We might grant an
employee permission to access certain files
and programs, and when they leave, we
might forget to take those permissions away.
Can | just have some reassurance that that is
part of the policy, and that there is some
mechanism to ensure that that’s occurring?
Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Mr. Seeley.
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Mr. Seeley: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. If |
could through you have Mr. Wells, our CIO,
respond to that.

Chairman: Thank you. Mr. Wells.

Mr. Wells: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Thank you, Member, for the question. There
are a few things that we have been doing to
improve and reduce the risk of casual
employees and relief workers being able to
exit from the GN or change jobs and leave
those, | guess, unclosed, or things that are not
closed off for them. One of the things is the
onboarding program, the training, the new
onboarding program that we talked about.
It’s really clear in training them about how
when they exit what they need to do to
inform their manager to inform HR, to start
with them and I guess explain how the
responsibility is not only on government but
also on the individual itself, that when they
leave, to do it properly.

We also work really closely with HR, and
we’ve got a process set up now with HR that
we provide them reports of people that have
not logged into our network in 30 days, 60
days, 90 days, and we go into the
departments and the departments work with
us and say, sorry, we did actually miss this
person, could you please close the account.

In the event we do not get responses back --
people could be on holidays, sick, that kind
of thing -- we will temporarily move the
account to inactive status until we are
notified and until we get clarity from the
departments that those accounts are actually
active. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you. Ms. Brewster.
Ms. Brewster: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Thank you for that response. | can say
wholeheartedly that the annoyance and
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discomfort that comes from being locked out
from your GN system for a day or half a day
is worth it when it comes to protecting
people’s privacy.

Mr. Chairman, | would like to go back to the
discussion earlier about the Police Act and
specifically about the Department of Justice
working to identify a civilian investigation
partner to undertake the review of serious
incidents in Nunavut, and what | didn’t hear
from the response is, from what | recall, is
that they’re working with Alberta, perhaps
because they also work with the RCMP or
they also have the RCMP as their main
policing force. What we know is that is there
is a civilian review and complaints
commission for the RCMP that is an
independent agency that reviews complaints
made by the public about the on-duty
conduct of RCMP members. And so |
wonder if that’s also being taken into account
as the department does that work to establish
that independent review committee. Thank
you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Mr. Witzaney.

Mr. Witzaney: Sorry; | thought that was
someone else.

(interpretation) Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
(interpretation ends) I’m drawing a blank.
The Police Act, my apologies | was
anticipating that going to Justice and not
myself. Would the Member mind repeating
the question?

Chairman: My apologies for putting you on
the spot, Mr. Witzaney. Mr. MacLean is
prepared to respond, | believe.

Mr. MacLean: Qujannamiik, Mr. Chairman.
A challenge that we identified at the time the
Police Act was being presented to the
Assembly was that some of the independent
police bodies in the provinces are not
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allowed to do work outside of their own
jurisdiction, due to statutory restrictions
there, so it limits the number of organizations
that we can work with. But | do not have a
specific answer for you today about whether
we are discussing with the RCMP | can take
that back to our department and commit to
providing a more fulsome answer.

I know the conversations are ongoing, or at
least have not been finalized on who our
external body will be because right now,
independent investigations are typically
coordinated through a police service and it’s
the RCMP that engages them. And as
Member Lightstone mentioned earlier today,
there’s a lack of transparency there that we as
a government acknowledge and understand,
but there was a legislative limitation in how
we can make it more transparent and more
civilian-led and that prompted the
amendments to the act, to create the Police
Act. The legislation development has not
moved quickly, I acknowledge, but it is still
ongoing. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Chairman: Thank you, Mr. MacLean. Just
before | go back to Ms. Brewster on her line
of questioning, | would like to recognize a
delegate that just walked into the room,
someone who | spent a great deal of time
with on the phone a few years ago during the
COVID pandemic.

I would like to take this opportunity to
personally thank Dr. Tam for a lot of the
recognition in helping Nunavut combat the
COVID-19 pandemic and assist us in many
different avenues when it came to vaccine
rollout, when it came to recognizing the
nuances of Nunavut’s individuality and
unique challenges we have with bringing
health care to remote communities. I’m very
pleased to hear that she is here not just in
Igaluit but in other communities in the
territory to discuss tuberculosis, which will
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probably be a topic of some of the ongoing
discussions that we’re having here today.

Dr. Tam | know we spoke on the phone
many, many times over the pandemic. |
personally wanted to thank you for your
support that you provided to Nunavut and to
all Nunavummiut. 1 would really like this
house to join me in recognizing Dr. Tam and
the great work that she’s contributing to
proceed with here in Nunavut, and obviously
with Minister Main’s support as well, too,
along with Nunavut Tunngavik Incorporated
and Inuit Tapiriit Kanatami. So welcome
very much to this House.

>>Applause

Chairman: Thank you. With that I will go
back to Ms. Brewster for her line of
questioning.

Ms. Brewster: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Thank you and welcome, Dr. Tam, to our
House.

I would like to go back to the discussion
earlier about the missing persons act and ask
Commissioner Steele whether or not he is
aware that the federal government is
currently engaging in consultations on the
creation of what they are calling now a red
dress alert. This red address alert would be
developed, or is under consideration to be
developed similar to the -- and it’s not
coming to me, the name of the alert that goes
out when there’s a child missing -- an amber
alert. It’s similar to that idea where if an
Indigenous woman goes missing anywhere in
Canada, that there would be a red dress alert
that would go off on telephones in the area
where the person is missing. And | wonder if
the commissioner has been approached for
consultation on that red dress alert yet. Thank
you, Mr. Chairman.
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Chairman: Mr. Steele.

Mr. Steele: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Thank you, Member, for the question. No, |
have not been approached or consulted, nor
would I necessarily expect that | would be by
the federal government, if it’s a federal
initiative.

But I’ll say the same thing that | say about
most of these ideas, and that is that it’s not
for me to say whether this legislature should
do it or not do it, whether it’s a good idea or
not, whether it would work or not. What |
can do is | can say, “How does this fit with
Nunavut’s existing privacy law?” At the end
of the day, the main thing that | want is
clarity, just so that there’s never any question
that if one government does this and the
other government does something different,
let’s at least make clear about whether such
an alert would be in keeping with the
Nunavut’s privacy law or not.

So that would be my suggestion to the
government if some initiative like this is
moved forward, is let’s at least please have
clarity about how it meshes with the existing
privacy law in Nunavut. (interpretation)
Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Mr. Seeley.

Mr. Seeley: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. Just
to build off the commissioner’s comments,
the public alerting system, the national
wireless public alerting system is a topic
around the emergency management table
nationally, and how that contract is managed
to administrator different types of alerts,
whether it be an amber alert or a public
emergency, is administered through a series
of MOUs with agencies in each jurisdiction.
We do quarterly public alerting tests of the
public alert system, and any consideration of
additional access to that public alerting
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system via other agencies for other purposes.
We would include consideration of the
relevant legislation before signing an MOU
with another agency for access to the system
for a different purpose, and certainly, give
full consideration to the privacy
considerations for any number of types of
alerts that might try to access the system. So
that would be built into that review through
that table and through that mechanism.
Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you. Ms. Brewster.

Ms. Brewster: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. |
thought that important to bring that issue up,
because of the discussion about the potential
of creating a missing persons act, and |
appreciate those responses.

Commissioner Steele, you indicate on page
18 of your 2022-23 annual report that

the Access to Information and Protection of
Privacy Act is adequate to deal with
information and privacy in the health system.
Almost every other Canadian jurisdiction has
health-specific legislation. There is no reason
that Nunavut should be so far behind.”

How do specialized statutes of this type
differ from general access to information and
protection of privacy legislation? Thank you,
Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you. Mr. Steele.

Mr. Steele: Mr. Chairman, our health system
holds a tremendous amount of personal
medical information about each and every
one of us. There are now only two
jurisdictions in Canada that do not have a law
specifically addressing privacy in health care.
There’s Nunavut and British Columbia.
Every other jurisdiction in Canada has a
detailed law about privacy.
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Nunavut’s existing privacy law applies to the
health system. It does apply to the health
system, but it applies to everything else at the
same time. And so there’s a lack of detail, a
lack of clarity, a lack of guidance that could
be provided by a law that was strictly about
the health system and could get into detail
about how the different parts of the health
system can play their part in protecting
privacy in health care. That’s the main
difference. It’s the level of detail and being
specific.

Another difference, Member, is that health-
specific privacy legislation doesn’t deal just
with the government; it deals also with other
health care providers. Now, the reality in
Nunavut is that we don’t have a very large
private health care sector. We don’t have
private physiotherapy clinics, we don’t have
a lot of dental offices. We don’t have very
many pharmacies, and so on, and so on. But
all of those entities, they are not Government
of Nunavut, but they are all handling medical
information in one way or another. So the
law would, the umbrella of the law would
expand to include them as well. That would
be another major difference.

I’ll stop there, Mr. Chairman. Those would
be the two main differences and why |
believe that it’s long past time that Nunavut
had a health-specific privacy law. Thank you,
Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you, Mr. Steele. Ms.
Brewster.

Ms. Brewster: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Mr. Steele, you just stated that Nunavut
doesn’t have a lot of these other health care
providers that the different jurisdictions do
have, where there isn’t, there aren’t a lot of
or any private clinics anymore. My home
phone number is Dr. Netcher’s old clinic
number, so | still get calls for Dr. Netcher
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from time to time. However, what we do
know, Commissioner Steele, is that the
Government of Nunavut has engaged in a
Memorandum of Understanding to share data
specifically on tuberculosis with Nunavut
Tunngavik Incorporated, and so | am a little,
I’m interested to know in the absence of that
specific health information legislation what
is protecting our citizens and their health
information in the absence of that legislation.
Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you. Mr. Steele.

Mr. Steele: Mr. Chairman, probably the
Department of Health is better placed than |
am to answer specifically what exactly is
shared with Nunavut Tunngavik Incorporated
under the tuberculosis information sharing
agreement. | am doubtful that it includes any
personal medical information. | believe it is
more community-level, perhaps statistical,
but the Department of Health can speak to
that.

The only other comment | have about that
agreement, as the Member knows, 1 think as
all members know, about two years ago |
issued a decision saying that the Department
of Health should release more information
about tuberculosis than it actually does
release. That recommendation was rejected
by the Minister of Health. That’s fine. That’s
it’s way the law is written. The Minister of
Health has the last word.

What they have done is they have agreed to
share information but only with Nunavut
Tunngavik Incorporated, but part of that
agreement is that Nunavut Tunngavik
Incorporated will not share it with anybody
else. So that’s not exactly being more open.
Let me emphasize: It is a great thing that the
Government of Nunavut and Nunavut
Tunngavik Incorporated are working closely

138



together in the fight against tuberculosis.
That is a fantastic thing.

Now, instead of having one entity that’s
holding information secret, you have two
entities holding information secret. That’s
not, from a public-information point of view,
that’s not in my view a huge improvement --
strictly from an information point of view. |
want to emphasize that, Mr. Chair. | am sure
you understand. It is great in terms of the
fight against tuberculosis, but in terms of
informing the public and holding the
government to account for its anti-
tuberculosis strategy, it’s not helpful when it
Is shared with another organization which
also has to keep the information secret.
Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you. Ms. Brewster.

Ms. Brewster: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Thank you, Mr. Steele. I guess I’ll ask then
the Department of Health. We know that that
information-sharing agreement with Nunavut
Tunngavik Incorporated on tuberculosis data
was tabled in February of this year, 2024,
and | would like to hear from the Department
of Health what is the status of administering
the agreement. An open-ended question, to
begin with. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you, and if I may add on
to the member’s question, does Nunavut
Tunngavik employees get privacy training
associated dealing with medical information.
Ms. Hunt?

Ms. Hunt (interpretation): Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. (interpretation ends) Thank you. |
think | heard a couple of questions. One of
the questions was do our partners in Nunavut
Tunngavik have training in privacy, was the
first question? The last question, sorry. I’m
going backwards. | don’t know the exact day
answer to that and I will check into it. | think,
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Susan, you may know whether through the
FAC (ph) process that that occurs. Just one
minute. | have to ask our Chair first to allow
you the opportunity to respond.

Chairman: Thank you. Ms. Patterson.

Ms. Patterson: We share the tuberculosis
data statistics with the Public Health Agency
who is recognized as the agency of the
federal government to aggregate outbreak
information, including TB, syphilis and all
the STDs, etcetera. Our reporting goes
through that mechanism. We have direct
engagement through an MOU between
Nunavut and Public Health Agency around
publishing those statistics. It’s not just NTI
that we share information.

At the federal level, then, you can see across
all the jurisdictions in terms of rates of
outbreak or rates of infection, and it’s that
basis, for example, the discussion about
Nunavut as being significantly higher on TB
outbreaks than the other jurisdictions from
that standpoint.

Chairman: Thank you. I’m not sure if the
full response was provided. Ms. Brewster, go
ahead.

Ms. Brewster: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Thank you for that response. However, I’m
still not clear on how this MOU is being --
this agreement is being administered. What |
do see in looking at the agreement that
specific information that | and others have
requested in this house is being shared, and
that’s numbers, or it says numbers only, no
rates by community, current year and time
trend, the numbers and rates by age and sex.

There are many reasons why | think it’s
important to share that information publicly,
and of utmost importance is to engage people
in helping us to eradicate those rates. We
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know that the Department of Health does
release rates and numbers data related to
numbers of different communicable diseases.
We know that recently there was an
information item about the rates of syphilis
in a particular community and the reason we
know that the Department of Health decided
to release those rates is in order to encourage
people to take action if they feel that they
might have symptoms or may have been
exposed.

I struggle to understand why, stigmatism
aside, | don’t know if there’s any greater
stigma related to somebody’s health than a
sexually transmitted infection or disease and
we’re seeing those numbers. When it comes
to tuberculosis, what we know is that public-
facing information can help to encourage
people to access health care and to learn and
talk to each other, importantly, about
tuberculosis. Whether it’s latent tuberculosis
or active tuberculosis, we know that we want
people to seek medical treatment for both
active and latent tuberculosis because it’s a
public health risk.

I know in my own family that | have family
members who were impacted by tuberculosis
in the ‘50s, ‘60s, and that there is this
message that the Department of Health is
putting forward that we don’t want to
stigmatize or traumatize anybody related to
sharing this information. What I can tell you
is, in my experience those people, especially
those elders who have personal experience,
lived experience with tuberculosis in their
youth, are amongst the strongest advocates to
providing as much information as possible in
order to eradicate tuberculosis. The target is
2030, and it’s 2024.

I would just like to hear more from the
Department of Health about the rationale to
sharing information and data sets with
Nunavut Tunngavik Incorporated and not the
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general public, who are most impacted by
tuberculosis. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you. Ms. Hunt.

Ms. Hunt (interpretation): Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. (interpretation ends) Thank you to
the Member. | think this is a really important
conversation and | know we’re all committed
to the elimination of TB. One of the
questions, and I’ll just walk through each of
yours and | think I’ve tried to capture each of
the --members’ questions, was do we provide
individual, patient-specific information to
Nunavut Tunngavik Incorporated, and the
answer is no. We would not provide an
individual’s specific health information to
our partner.

We do provide, as you noted, community,
territorial, and regional-level information.
We are quite public about regional and
territorial statistics, and I think recently as we
had the community-wide screening and kick-
off and Dr. Tam here, that was also part of
the media campaign sharing that information.

We have committed to continuing to look at
information that would be released from a
statistical standpoint by gender and age. That
hasn’t yet happened, but we are continuing to
have those conversations and look at how
that could be released in a good and wise
way.

A lot of our work has been with the hamlets
and our partners to really understand from
communities directly what is important to
them in terms of information, not just as you
noted, to destigmatizing TB, to also reducing
and improving education on that, but about
the level of information-sharing and
empowering communities to be able to share
their information. And so that’s part of our
work as well.
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And also looking at how we can use
information to help inform our planning and
our work with communities and our partners
as part of the TB elimination plan, as part of
looking at the broader areas of public health
and the protection of a community in
improving the health status of community
members.

So I’ll stop there, lksivautaag. | hope | have
answered the member’s questions. | am
definitely happy to answer more as they may
come. (interpretation) Thank you.

Chairman: Ms. Brewster.

Ms. Brewster: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Thank you, Ms. Hunt, for that response. I just
heard you say you’re working to empower
communities to share their information. So
just for clarity, does the Department of
Health release the tuberculosis rates and
numbers to each community, and if so, are
there individual memorandums of
understanding about those rates? Because
what | hear -- I might be wrong, but what |
hear from that statement of empowering
communities to share their information, it
tells me that they have the information.
Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you. Ms. Hunt.

Ms. Hunt: Thank you, Iksivautaaq. Thank
you for the question, to the member. That’s
part of our current work, just so answer the
member’s question. So for example, when
we’re working with communities when an
outbreak has been declared, we are sharing
that information through public engagement,
consultation, and meeting with the hamlets.
And then as testing, treatment, screening,
follow-up is being done, that’s the
information that we’re continuing to engage
on community on, creating a formal process
around after-action reporting, for example,
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and the community’s process around what
information they would want to share. That’s
still part of the working journey that we’re
doing.

I think these last two community-wide
screenings and our most recent on and
working with our partners, communities are
really engaged and starting to provide that
information, give direction, and helping us
work together to land on what could that
process look like and how do we do that in a
good way, and also maintain individual-level
privacy and still be able to share information
that helps community plan with us to address
their TB or other public health areas of
concern. Thank you.

Chairman: Thank you. Ms. Brewster.

Ms. Brewster: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
I’ll move on from that for now, while |
process those responses. Commissioner
Steele, in 2021 the Fifth Assembly of
Nunavut passed a new mental health act.
Section 64 of the legislation establishes a
new mental health review board. The
government’s response to the November
2022 report of the standing committee
indicates that “the mental health review
board is an independent, quasi-judicial board,
will be responsible to develop its own
policies and internal protocols.”

Sorry, this is really long. “Health will advise
the board on the importance to consult with
external partners as needed, including the
Information and Privacy Commissioner.”

I wonder to what extent has your office been
consulted in respect to access and privacy
matters relating to the new mental health act
and the Mental Health Review Board. Thank
you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you. Mr. Steele.
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Mr. Steele: Mr. Chairman, my predecessor,
the commissioner before me was ostensibly
consulted about the mental health act when it
was being developed. | know because | saw a
very thick file that she had on it. But on that
specific point, Member, specifically on the
Mental Health Review Board, there has been
no consultation with me so far. Thank you,
Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you. Ms. Brewster.

Ms. Brewster: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
And to the commissioner: does that surprise
you? Does it concern you? Is there a need to
consult or not? Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Mr. Steele.

Mr. Steele: Mr. Chairman, I laugh a little bit
because | know that one of the things when |
hear often when | come to this forum is
members asking whether they have consulted
with me. There are a lot of times when | want
to say that’s not something that | should be
consulted about, right. I don’t want to
become part of the policy process of the
government. I’m not the Government of
Nunavut. | have to stay outside it. If they’re
looking for my opinion on something in
particular, I’m happy to provide it, although I
usually say to them, look, these are just my
thoughts.

If a matter comes before me as a result of a
complaint, for example, | have to be able to
approach it with an open mind, and | should
not ever be in a position where |1 am
reviewing the correctness of my own advice.

Member, really honestly, no, it doesn’t
surprise me that | haven’t been consulted
about any aspect on the operations of the
Mental Health Review Board. The first
question that is going come up is whether
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this board is even subject to the access and
privacy law at all. And if they’re not added to
the regulation, then at some point I’m going
to have to make a decision.

If somebody complains or somebody asks for
information, I’m going to have to decide
whether they even come within the definition
of “public body” in the law. So that’s
something that | will probably have to leave
there, keep an open mind about. I wouldn’t
want to be pulled too far into the
government’s policy-making process. If they
contact me I’m happy to talk to them, but
there is a limit to the policy advice that I can
give. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Ms. Brewster.

Ms. Brewster: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Thank you, commissioner, for that response.
This is more for information and I’ll leave it
up to you, Mr. Chairman, as to whether or
not it’s appropriate to ask today of the
Department of Health who are the members
of the board and whether or not there are
Inuit cultural advisors who have been
appointed to the board under that subsection
64 of the legislation. Thank you, Mr.
Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you. I do think it’s a fair
question, that the Act itself has been a topic
for discussion, to see who the members of
the board are and whether those Inuit cultural
advisors have been appointed is fair. I’m not
sure if Ms. Hunt will have that information
with her, but Ms. Hunt.

Ms. Hunt (interpretation): Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. (interpretation ends) The elder
advisors have not been appointed as of yet, to
my understanding, and | don’t know the
names of those who have been appointed. |
would say they have not been formally
appointed. No one has been formally
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appointment as of yet, but we have received
submissions that are under review. Thank
you.

Chairman: Thank you. Ms. Brewster.

Ms. Brewster: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. |
would like to go back to the discussion about
the health privacy legislation that the
Department of Health is working on. The
Government of Nunavut’s current business
plan indicates that the department is working
on that legislation with public consultations
beginning in late 2023, and the business plan
also indicates that the consultations are
expected to conclude by December of 2024.

| wonder if the Department of Health could
tell us to what extent the department is
consulting with the Office of the Information
and Privacy Commissioner in the
development of that new health privacy
legislation. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you. Ms. Sanderson.

Ms. Anderson: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
In terms of the response, Health is continuing
to work towards the development of modern
legislation for the proper collection, use,
disclosure of personal health information,
what we are referring to as health-specific
privacy legislation. We’re undertaking a
comprehensive consultation process to
ensure the legislation addresses the needs and
expectations of Nunavummiut.

It is planned to have the consultation process
complete, in terms of our public consultation,
later this year. We are targeting to have drafts
of the documents to return to Justice but no
firm date yet. Thank you.

Chairman: Thank you. Ms. Brewster.
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Ms. Brewster: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. |
did hear a little bit of a response; I’m not sure
whether or not Ms. Anderson indicated to
what extent the Information and Privacy
Commissioner is being consulted on the
development of that legislation. Thank you,
Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you. Ms. Anderson.

Ms. Anderson: Thank you for the question,
Mr. Chair. To date, the privacy
commissioner has not been consulted on this
legislation. Part of our public consultation
process is the extension of options of what is
included in them because there has been
significant environmental scan. Not every
jurisdiction that has health-specific privacy
legislation, they are not cookie-cutters so
there’s a lot of variability in terms of the
landscape across the jurisdictions, the
provinces, the territories, and the federal. So
we are looking through this consultation
process to get some feedback in terms of
shaping what will go into the legislative act.

We’re also contemplating options around
regulations that would fit under the health-
specific legislation. At the appropriate time,
then, absolutely, the privacy commissioner
would be one of our sure stops to consult
with in terms of as these options get firmed
up, as we see the legislation coming together.
Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Ms. Brewster.

Ms. Brewster: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Ms. Anderson mentioned other jurisdictions
in that response, and I’m wondering if there
are other jurisdictions that have comparative
issues that might be considered as a good
role model for Nunavut. Thank you, Mr.
Chairman.

Chairman: Ms. Anderson.
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Ms. Anderson: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Yes, through our environmental scan, we
have seen some not just within the territories
but some of the provinces, and if I could pick
on BC, for example, where you have a
significant Indigenous First Nations
population, we see some very thoughtful
approaches around the handling of health
information in that context. You know, the
OCAP approach to dealing not just with
patients and families but communities, and
then how do we reflect that through in terms
of our thinking about our engagement in
terms of the confidentiality and privacy, but
also as the conversations come up today,
often with elders and communities, and the
cultural sensitivity around these things.

At the end of the day, the way | would
summarize it, what we want to accomplish is
a mechanism to expand the public trust,
because there’s so much anxiety on the
public domain today as relates to we hear
about data breaches every day. | have
personally seen this up close in Alberta,
where we had 620,000 patients’ data
breached by a private clinic group that lead
to us developing a privacy breach regulation.

I’m saying there’s all these upset issues. How
can we create the legislation that’s going to
expand the trust and balance the
conversation? That would be my comment.
Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you. Ms. Brewster.

Ms. Brewster: Thank you, Mr. Chairman,
and thank you for that response. We know
that there are a number of departments, other
departments within the Government of
Nunavut that collect personal health
information and other private information of
our citizens, whether it’s Family Services,
Education, or Justice, and especially related
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to vulnerable individuals, and that data or
that information touches on suicide
prevention, suicide child protection, violence
against women. I’m wondering how the
proposed legislation will take into
consideration those privacy issues collected
related to personal health information
collected by other departments such as
Family Services, again, Justice and
Education. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you. Ms. Anderson.

Ms. Anderson: Thank you, Mr. Chairman,
for this question. Yes, there is an incredible
opportunity in terms of looking at not just the
health data collected within Department of
Health for the purposes of clinical delivery,
but we look at some of the meaningful data
around social determinants and context,
whether it’s around housing, Education
Justice Family Services et cetera. These
create significant linkable opportunities in
what we call population health data.

We’re doing that to some extent now, but
we’re doing it at a macro level through
organizations like Stats Canada, et cetera.
But there’s some changing steps that are
happening across Canada and, in particular, |
point to for example the Inuit Health Data
Survey and the emphasis there around
expanded collection of data. That’s direct
individual surveys that Stats Canada cannot
pursue across all the Inuit populations across
Canada, but we’re getting opportunity for
granular data that will touch on many of
those. Those kinds of questions that we can
then link in, link back into the health data.

From a government standpoint this
absolutely makes sense that we take
advantage of those opportunities and create a
legal, government structure that allows us to
have meaningful sharing within a trusted
environment, what | call a data haven, that
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people need access to that data can use it and
review it, without having to go through a
number of legal hurdles to get there. That is
kind of part of the objective that we see
going through this process.

It’s not just the constraints of when to say no;
it is how we get to a more open, more
shareable but yet a secure context for health
data plus these linked data sets. Thank you,
Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you. Ms. Brewster.

Ms. Brewster: Thank you. Thank you, Mr.
Chairman, and thank you, Ms. Anderson, for
that response. You mentioned some
initiatives related to collecting health data. |
know that those baseline studies are really
important. The trend studies are even more
important in terms of collecting population
health data. | wonder what other health
privacy initiatives the department is currently
undertaking, whether it’s the research, as you
mentioned, or anything else. Thank you, Mr.
Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you. Ms. Anderson.

Ms. Anderson: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Health has reconstituted our research
committee. We just struck that two weeks
ago. This is a renewal of an older committee
that has participation across our entire health
department. I’m involved and others. We
routinely interact with researchers from all
parts of Canada, but this is a formal process
of giving us opportunity to do an engagement
with NRI, to engage in doing some of the
research ethics boards reviews, and to have a
critical discussion about what kinds of
research and researchers that Nunavut and
our co-participants are welcoming in.

A lot of this is as shifting sand. I’'ll give a
simple example. Nunavut has applied for a
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SPOR grant. What’s the acronym -- it is
specific patient oriented research. Sorry
about the acronym, but Canadian Institute of
Health Research, the application has been
going on for like ten years and it’s just this
year that Nunavut finally has stepped into a
five-year grant agreement in this area.

What it means is recognition that there’s a lot
of research that can happen here in Nunavut.
It’s not just by parties outside, and that we
have over time have some significant
expertise and subject matter experts in a
number of these areas that are very important
around suicide prevention, around outbreak
diseases, around impact of housing as it
applies to health, et cetera. So these are very
exciting opportunities and we’re just
stepping into this realm in a significant way
now but it’s going to expand the research
envelope. We see that. Thank you, Mr.
Chairman.

Chairman: Ms. Brewster.

Ms. Brewster: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
As former management of research and
special projects at the Department of Health |
am happy to hear that that committee has
been brought back together.

Ms. Anderson referred to NRI, which is
Nunavut Research Institute, right, institute.
And that reminded me of some very
important work that is done to ensure that
there is protection of people’s privacy, and
that is through the granting of research
licences to researchers. There’s a pretty
stringent process in applying for a research
licence that includes, very importantly,
referring back to the community members.

| realize that 1’ve been focusing on health
and | want to just ask one more gquestion now
for reassurance that it’s still occurring, and
that Health is aware that there is a need to --
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especially because we send so many people
out of territory for medical travel, what we
know is that when there is research being
done in Nunavut there is an application
process for licensing and some assurance that
people’s personal private health information
will be protected.

However, we don’t have any control over
when we send somebody out of territory and
their approach to take part in a research
project. Even though they are our medical
travellers, they have the right and
responsibility and opportunity to take part in
research if they choose to do so. | wonder
whether or not there is a mechanism in place
in those service provision agreements with
the different health care providers that we
send our medical travellers to, to ensure that
their privacy is protected, and also
specifically related to any research projects
so that they’re not taken advantage of. Thank
you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you. Ms. Anderson.

Ms. Anderson: Thank you. Yes, the one
point that | would say, a discussion is going
nationally at this time as around, Mr.
Chairman, the integration and
interoperability of our system so that it will
enable us as we have medical travel to be
able to capture and integrate data that comes
through the episodes of care, whether they be
in Ottawa or Winnipeg or Stanton or
Edmonton, and recover that data back, so we
have the security of that data back in our
clinical information system that then the
research can happen here.

There’s still the issue of in other jurisdictions
as they’re doing research. A lot of the
research ethics boards will require, if there is
patient-identified information that there’s
consent by the individual. It doesn’t mean
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just because somebody had a procedure in an
Ottawa hospital that their data is vulnerable
to somebody wanting to do a research project
without first contacting the family and asking
for permission to proceed on that. Thank
you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you. | believe Ms.
Brewster has completed her line of
questioning on the Department of Health.
Instead of opening up another topic and
leaving it unfinished before the end of the
day, I’m going to make an executive decision
and 1I’m going to adjourn the meeting now.
We’ll see everyone here tomorrow at 10 a.m.
Thank you.

>>Committee adjourned at 16:48
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